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Board of Trustees

Central Ohio Transit Authority

and Mary Taylor, Auditor of State of Ohio
Columbus, OH:

We have audited the balance sheets of Central Ohio Transit Authority (the “Authority”) as of December 31, 2007 and
2006, and the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Authority. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectivencss of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting,
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Authority as
of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 2 -12 is not a required part of the financial statements but is
supplementary information required by Governmental Accounting Standards Board. This supplementary information 1s
the responsibility of the Authority’s management. We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted
principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the supplementary
information. However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements of the Authority taken as a
whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis
and as required by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments,
and Non-Profit Organizations, and is not a required part of the financial statements. This schedule is the responsibility
of Authority management. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the
financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly presented in all material respects in relation to the financial statements
taken as a whole.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated June 19, 2008, on our
consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in
assessing the results of our audit.

D Litts T Towde L2

June 20, 2008

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As the management of the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the Authority or COTA), we offer readers
of the Authority’s basic financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial
activities of the Authority for the year ended December 31, 2007. This discussion and analysis is
designed to assist the reader in focusing on significant financial issues and activities and identifying
any significant changes in financial position. We encourage readers to consider the information
presented here, in conjunction with the basic financial statements and notes to the financial
statements, which follows this section and provides more specific detail.

Overview of Financial Highlights

L2

The Authority has net assets of $99.8 million. These net assets result from the difference
between total assets of $110.4 million and total liabilities of $10.6 million.

The Authority’'s net assets increased by $6.9 million in 2007 mainly due to an increase in
Federal and State grant funding of $6 million. The Authority’'s net assets decreased by
$15.3 million in 2006 mainly due to impairment of the North Corridor Project and the transfer
of certain revenue vehicles to another transit system.

Current assets of $35.2 million primarily consist of non-board designated cash and cash
equivalents of $13.1 million; sales tax receivables of $13.1 million, inventory of $2.8 million,
and Board designated assets of $3.8 million.

Current liabilities of $9.8 million primarily consist of accrued payroll and fringe benefits of
$4.9 million, and accounts payable of $1.9 million.

The Authority has no long-term debt.

Basic Financial Statements and Presentation

The financial statements presented by the Authority are the Balance Sheets, the Statements
of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets and the Statements of Cash Flows.
These statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. The Authority is structured as a single enterprise fund with
revenues recognized when earned and measurable, not when received. Expenses are
recognized when they are incurred, not when paid. Capital assets are capitalized and
depreciated, except land, over their estimated useful lives.

The Balance Sheets present information on all of the Authority’s assets and liabilities, with
the difference between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases and decreases
in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the
Authority is improving or deteriorating. Net assets decrease when expenses exceed
revenues. A decrease in assets without a corresponding decrease to liabilities results in
decreased net assets, which indicate a deteriorated financial position.




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2007

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets, on page 16, presents
information showing how the Authority’s net assets changed during the year. This
statement summarizes operating revenues and expenses along with non-operating
revenues and expenses. In addition, this statement lists capital grant revenues received
from federal and state governments.

The Statements of Cash Flows on pages 17-18 allow financial statement users to assess
the Authority’s adequacy or ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet its obligations in
a timely manner. The statements are classified into four categories: 1) cash flows from
operating activities, 2) cash flows from non-capital financing activities, 3) cash flows from
capital and related financing activities, and 4) cash flows from investing activities.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the financial statements. The notes to the financial
statements can be found on pages 19-35.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Central Ohio Transit
Authority’s financial status and performance. Questions concerning any of the information
provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to:

Office of Chief Financial Officer
Central Ohio Transit Authority
1600 McKinley Avenue
Columbus, OH 43222-1093
www.COTA.com




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Financial Analysis of the Authority

Condensed Summary of Net Assets

The Authority’s comparative analysis of the condensed summary of Net Assets is as follows:

Description 2007 2006 2005
Assets
Current Assets 31,342,953 $ 29,145,271 23,905,364
Board Designated Assets (current) 3,822,846 3,401,490 1,969,885
Restricted Assets (current) & - 649,631
Total Current Assets 35,165,799 32,546,761 26,524,880
Board Designated Assets (non-current) 10,584,131 10,597,104 11,535,204
Capital Assets (net of accumulated
depreciation) 64,712,680 61,349,114 82,895,537
Total Non-Current Assets 75,296,811 71,946,218 94,430,741
Total Assets 110,462,610 104,492,979 120,955,621
Liabilities
Current Liabilities 9,756,679 10,760,880 11,600,596
Non-Current Liabilities 888,572 766,456 1,134,144
Total Liabilities 10,645,251 11,527,336 12,734,740
Net Assets
Net Assets Invested in Capital Assets 64,712,680 61,349,114 82,895,537
Net Assets Restricted for Capital Assets - - 649,631
Net Assets Unrestricted 35,104,679 31,616,529 24675713
Total Net Assets $ 99817,359 $ 92,965,643 $ 108,220,881

Most of the Authority’s net assets reflect investment in capital assets such as buses, maintenance
equipment, and operating facilities. The Authority uses these capital assets to provide public
transportation services for Franklin County and portions of the cities of Columbus, Reynoldsburg,
and Westerville that are located in counties adjacent to Franklin County. The Authority's investment
in capital assets as of December 31, 2007 amounts to $64.7 million (net of accumulated
depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements,
revenue vehicles, transit centers, other equipment, and construction in progress. The total increase
in COTA's investment in capital assets for 2007 was $3.4 million.




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Major capital asset events during 2007 included the following:
o Purchase of (32) heavy duty transit buses
o Purchase of (12) paratransit buses
e Completion of the final phase of the roof replacement at 1600 McKinley Avenue Facility

Contributions to construction in progress including the following projects:

e Beginning phase of New Paratransit Facility Project
e Beginning phase of ITS Project for CAD/AVL System

Additional information on the Authority’s capital assets can be found in Note 4 in the Notes to the
Financial Statements located on pages 28-29.

The Authority’s current assets at the end of 2007 are composed of cash and cash equivalents
(42%), receivables (48%), inventory (9%), and other assets (1%) consisting predominately of
prepaid expenses.

Expenses by Functional Category

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets are presented on the next
page with explanations and analysis following. The Authority’s expenses, excluding depreciation,
can also be classified by functional category as defined by the Authority’s National Transit
Database Report (NTDR) and summarized in the following table:

EXPENSES BY FUNCTION (Excluding Depreciation)

Description 2007 2006 2005
Transportation 39,534,403 38,352,438 42 942,412
Vehicle Maintenance 12,557,009 12,050,062 12,768,801
Facilities Maintenance 4,073,816 3,848,133 4,375,327
General & Administrative 13,616,182 13,469,858 13,752,089

Total 69,781,410 67,720,491 73,838,629

In accordance with NTDR guidelines, the 2007, 2006 and 2005 expenses include additional costs of
$34,751, $29,132 and $25,908 respectively, collected directly by the service provider from the
Authority’s customers for the Sedan Voucher Service for disabled passengers.




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Condensed Summary of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets:

Description 2007 2006 2005
Operating Revenues
Passenger Fare Revenues 12,666,006 12,816,845 3 11,404,545
Special Services Revenue 390,960 359,886 337,661
Other: Auxiliary Transportation Revenues 237,929 243,138 371,971
Total Operating Revenues 13,294,895 13,419,869 12,114,177
Non-Operating Revenues
Sales Tax Revenues 47,615,932 47,007,395 44 821,588
Federal Assistance 11,479,652 10,866,698 11,055,758
State Assistance 1,416,616 1,455,882 1,184,646
Investment Income 1,176,901 1,008,101 649,640
Non-transportation and Other Revenues 748,242 549,046 538,547
Total Non-Operating Revenues 62,437,343 60,887,122 58,250,179
Total Revenue before Capital Grants 75,732,238 74,306,991 70,364,356
Operating Expenses
Labor 28,498,141 27,522,282 31,829,043
Fringe Benefits 18,334,414 18,476,176 21,155,637
Materials and Supplies 10,085,202 9,236,317 8,588,212
Purchased Transportation 5,015,657 4,608,078 4,530,514
Services 4,096,126 3,737,526 3,722,092
Other Expenses 3,737,395 4,110,980 3,987,223
Operating Expenses before Depreciation 69,766,935 67,691,359 73,812,721
Depreciation Expense 8,227,145 8,564,858 9,114,603
Total Operating Expenses 77,994,080 76,256,217 82,927,324
Loss before Capital Grants and Special ltem (2,261,842) (1,949,226) (12,562,968)
Capital Grant Revenues:
Federal 7,923,838 3,215,213 6,302,087
State 2,136,637 1,608,175 2,783,162
Other - 7,156 Z
Total Capital Grant Revenues 10,060,475 4,830,544 9,085,249
Special Item: Loss on Transfer of Assets 0 (665,492) (2,392,547)
Special ltem: Loss on Project Impairment (946,917) (17,471,064) -
Total Special ltem (946,917) (18,136,556) (2,392,547)
Change in Net Assets during the Year 6,851,716 (15,255,238) (5,870,266)
Net Assets, Beginning of Year 92,965,643 108,220,881 114,091,147
Net Assets, End of Year 99,817,359 92,965,643 $ 108,220,881




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Revenues by Source
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Financial Operating Results

Revenues

For purposes of this presentation, the Authority groups its operating revenues into the following
categories:

Passenger Fares are comprised of farebox revenues and special services revenues. The slight
decrease in 2007 is due to flat ridership in comparison to 2006. The 2006 increase from 2005 is
attributed to a fare increase in January 2006.

Sales Tax Revenues are received from a permanent %% sales tax levy approved by voters in
November 1999 and applicable to the Authority’s service area. The minimal 1.3% increase in sales
tax revenue in 2007 is mainly due to limited economic growth in the Franklin County area. The
increase of 4.8% in 2006 from 2005 is due in part to a one-time state sales tax amnesty program.
The 2005 sales tax revenue was down due to slowing economic growth in COTA’s taxing district.

Federal Assistance is received from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) for general operating
expenses and capital programs. With the passage of the Transportation Equity Act of the 21%
Century (TEA-21), regional transit authorities were given the latitude to use their Section 5307
Federal Formula Assistance on the capitalization of maintenance instead of the purchase of capital
assets. The Authority has elected to use its Section 5307 funds on vehicle maintenance, permitting
the full use of this allocation each year, and freeing local funds for future capital projects. In 2007,
the total allocation to all public transit agencies for Section 5307 funds as designated by Congress
was increased, which in turn increased the amount designated for COTA. The decrease in Federal
Assistance in 2006 was due to a reduction in TEA-21 due to funding requirements for Katrina
recovery efforts. The increase in Federal Assistance in 2005 was due to an increase in funding the
total allocation to all public transit agencies for Section 5307 funds by the Federal government.

Federal Capital Grants are received from the FTA for capital projects and capital acquisitions.
Federal Capital Grants reimburse the Authority in part for the purchase of new buses, equipment
and facility enhancements. The increase in Federal Capital Grants in 2007 is mainly due to the
purchase of 32 heavy duty transit buses. The reduction in Federal Capital Grants in 2006 is due to
the discontinued North Corridor Light Rail Project. The reduction in Federal Capital Grants in 2005
is due to the completion of the Easton Daycare Center and the Near East Transit Center
construction projects and a decrease in funding for the North Corridor Light-Rail project.

State Assistance is received from the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) for elderly and
disabled rider reduced-fare subsidies, and for reimbursement of State fuel taxes. COTA is required
to remit State taxes on diesel fuel, but is refunded $0.27 of the $0.28 per gallon paid. The elderly
and disabled rider reduced-fare subsidies amount for the entire program increased for 2007;
however, because of changes in fare structures at other transit agencies within the state of Ohio,
the amount allocated to COTA was down slightly over 2006. The increase for State Assistance in
2006 and 2005 was due primarily to an increase in overall elderly and disabled passenger fare
assistance program.




State Capital Grants are received from ODOT for capital projects and capital acquisitions. State
Capital Grants reimburse the Authority in part for the purchase of new buses and equipment. In
2007, the increase in State Capital Grant funding was predominantly used towards the purchase of
32 heavy duty transit buses. The decrease in State Capital Grants in 2006 was due to the
discontinuation of the North Corridor Light Rail Project. The increase in State Capital Grants in
2005 was for reimbursement for the construction of the Easton Daycare Center, the implementation
of the annunciator and automatic passenger counter projects, and the purchase of buses. In 2005,
the increase is also attributable to reimbursement for the construction of the Near East Transit
Center.

Investment Income is earned on invested funds. In 2007, the investment income is higher due to
higher cash balances. The 2006 and 2005 investment income is significantly higher due to higher
investment rates and higher cash balances.

Non-Transportation and Other Revenues consist of auxiliary transportation revenues and non-
transportation revenues. Auxiliary transportation revenues represent fees collected for advertising
placed in and on buses and bus shelters. From 2006 to 2007, the Authority experienced declining
sales related to advertising on the outside of the buses, and therefore made a decision in late 2007
to discontinue this program going forward. Non-transportation revenues include other
miscellaneous income items such as rent income which increased in 2007 over 2006 and 2005 due
to full occupancy in COTA’s Near East transit center and Easton Daycare. Non-transportation
revenue also includes a gain on sale of fixed assets in 2007.

Expenses

Labor comprises nearly half of the total Authority expenses and includes hourly wages paid to
union-represented employees (bus operators, mechanics and facility maintenance personnel), and
salaries and wages paid to administrative staff (clerical, supervisory and management personnel).
The 2007 labor increase of 3.5% was driven by contractual increases for the represented
employees and merit increase for administrative employees. In 2006, reductions in service coupled
with improved efficiency resulted in a 14% reduction in labor cost. During May 2005, COTA
eliminated fifteen administrative positions as part of a reorganization of the Authority’s
administrative departments, thereby reducing labor expense.

Fringe Benefits consist primarily of vacation, sick and holiday pay, required Authority contributions
to the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS), and employee medical benefits.
Required employer contributions to OPERS were made at the rate of 13.85% of total gross taxable
wages.

In 2007, fringe benefit expense was relatively unchanged due to a modest increase in premiums
offset by increased employee cost sharing. In 2006, fringe benefit expense was reduced by nearly
13% through a corresponding reduction in direct payroll costs and no growth in medical premiums.
The increase in fringe benefits in 2005 is due to rising medical insurance costs and an increase in
Workers’ Compensation expense caused by a significant adjustment to the liability reserve to
recognize future liabilities.
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Materials and Supplies include the Authority’s diesel fuel expense and parts used in the
maintenance of buses and facilities. Similar to 2007, the authority was hard hit in the area of
materials and supplies due to the increasing price of diesel fuel and the maintenance costs
associated with an aging bus fleet with an average bus age over 8 years. In 2006, materials and
supplies increased 7.5% from 2005 due to an increased fuel price per gallon of 21.4% and the
impact of maintaining an aging bus fleet. The primary factor for the 2005 increase in expenses is a
44 2% increase in the average price per gallon of diesel fuel along with a slight increase in fuel
consumption of approximately 36,000 gallons. Another factor that also increased expenses was the
write-off of the ABI bus parts inventory.

Purchased Transportation expense is comprised of amounts paid to a private local contractor to
provide the Authority’s Project Mainstream service (door-to-door, service-on-demand in wheelchair
lift-equipped minibuses for disabled riders). In 2007, COTA saw a significant increase in purchased
transportation expense of 8.8%. This increase is a direct result of the increase in ridership of 7.9%
over 2006. In 2006, purchased transportation expense increased by 1.7% over 2005 but was
driven by an increase in ridership of 2.9%. For 2005, the total Project Mainstream ridership was
only a slight increase of less than 1% as a result of challenges with scheduling that led to
decreased productivity.

Services are provided by outside contractors to the Authority for a wide variety of professional,
technical, consulting and maintenance needs. Services increased in 2007 by 9.6% as a result of
increase subcontracting activity in the facility support area. These costs remained fairly constant
from 2005 to 2006 with just a .4% increase.

Other Expenses consist primarily of utilities, taxes, interest, leases and rentals, claims and
insurance and other miscellaneous expenses. In 2007, there was a decrease in other expenses of
9%. In 2008, other expenses increased 3% over 2005 primarily due to increase self-insurance
claims from increased liability reserves. Real estate taxes are paid on non-exempt Authority
property which includes transit center rental facilities and are partially reimbursed by the tenants. In
2005 and 2006 leases and rental expense included the downtown COTA Connection customer
service center, the COTA Business Development Division office on Lake Shore Drive, the Project
Mainstream paratransit offices on Phillipi Road, certain park-and-ride facilities, and miscellaneous
equipment. Both the Lakeshore and Phillipi Road leases were terminated in 2006 and the Project
Mainstream paratransit offices were moved to a COTA owned facility at Fields Avenue thereby
eliminating leasing expense for these locations in 2007.
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Analysis of 2007 Financial Results

COTA’s financial results for the year ending 2007, demonstrate a dramatically improved financial
condition. Despite recent market volatility resulting in dramatic increases in fuel costs as well as a
challenging economic environment, both locally and nationally, the Authority has a balanced budget
and a strong financial position. COTA ended the year with a $6.9 million increase in net assets. In
2006, management successfully undertook a series of arduous, yet prudent, measures to balance
the budget and bring financial stability back to the Authority. The improved financial position
permitted management to take advantage of additional Federal and State grant programs, resulting
in a 108% increase in Federal and State capital revenue over 2006. This additional revenue
coupled with an increase in sales and use tax of 4.8%, resulted in an operating surplus of $15
million (excluding depreciation) for the year, signaling a spirited turnaround and a robust financial
position as we embark on a period of significant growth.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Balance Sheets
December 31, 2007 and 2006

ASSETS 2007 2006
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cashand cashequivalents..................ccooevii i, $ 13,117,239 $ 12,278,782
Receivables:
SRS EAR. s st s e s o S R A e A 13,107,164 12,735,718
Federal capital grants receivable.................cccoiiiiiiinee, 317,914 73,262
Federal operating assistance...................c.ooiv i 397,302 44 218
State capital grants receivable...................ccoooiiiiiiie 118,702 216,182
N O s s S o S 0 P A S 1,082,518 444 973
Inventory of materials and supplies................cocoi i 2,751,701 2,327,942
ERBBT. . ... s memmn e i i RS s R S 450,413 1,024,193
Tolaksm s s e e 31,342,953 29,145,271
Board designated:
Cash and cash equivalents - capital grants...................... 3,010,236 1,625,585
Cash and cash equivalents - self insurance..................... 812,610 1,775,905
Tatal..... o 3,822,846 3,401,490
Total currentassets......... oo i 35,165,799 32,546,761
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Board designated:
Cash and cash equivalents - self insurance..................... 10,584,131 10,597,104
Property and equipment
COSt ieeeeeeee 164,053,873 157,555,256
Less accumulated depreciation...........ccoeveevvcviiiireeeieeecenn (99,341,193) (96,206,142)
Total. .. 64,712,680 61,349 114
Total non-current @ssets..........co.ooeerieviieiiiiincn 75,296,811 71,946,218
TOTALASSETES........orocemensenisils b i asns $ 110,462,610 $ 104,492 979
See notes to financial statements. (continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Balance Sheets (continued)
December 31, 2007 and 2006

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 2007 2006
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accrued payroll and fringe benefits............iiinininini % 4,947 709 4,841,938
ACCOUNS PAYEDIE. ... 1,916,258 2,187,297
Accrued payroll taXeS. .........cooiiioiiii e 620,771 612,342
Estimated workers compensation claims................coccoooonn 429,513 483,454
Estimated claims payable ... 383,097 1,292,451
Other current Babilities. . .. casnisansomnassnnsive i 1,459,331 1,343,398
Total cumrent liabiliiteS s 9,756,679 10,760,880
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accrued inge benefits. oo anninannsnnnnssmas 508,697 409,675
Deferred revenue lease property..........ccoooeviviiiiiiiniiinininns 23,140 37,024
Estimated workers compensation claims.............................. 231,485 210,907
Estimated claims payable ... 125,250 108,850
Total non-current liabilitites. ............cccoooiiiis 888,572 766,456
TOTAL LIABILITIES ... 10,645,251 11,527,336
NET ASSETS:
Invested in capital @ssets..........oocovviiiie i 64,712,680 61,349,114
IREESTICIE . ... o oo e ST A S 35,104,679 31,616,529
TOTAL NET ASSETS vusssvusmmamnrmnmyiays 99,817,359 92,965,643
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS........ooiiiine e $ 110,462,610 104,492,979
See notes to financial statements. (continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

2007 2006
OPERATING REVENUES:
Passenger fares for transit Service...........ccooovviiccciiiicii, 12,666,006 12,816,845
Special transit fares... e 390,960 359,886
Auxiliary transpor!al;on revenue.. 237,929 243,138
TOBL v 13,294,895 13,419,869
OPERATING EXPENSES OTHER THAN DEPRECIATION:
=10 o | S OO RO U VPO TSP U UUTPUUPRU OO PRON 28,498,141 27,522,282
Fringe benefits. ... ... 18,334,414 18,476,176
Materials and SUPPNES........ocvieeeeeee e 10,085,202 9,236,317
Purchased transportalion ..o msssmmisss s o soe isnmnssns sossssssirssnss 5,015,657 4,608,078
B B s o o S T e T e e S A e PN A 4,096,126 3.737.526
Utilities. .. 1,501,736 1,435,646
Taxes... 766,222 726,764
Leases and rentals : 208,838 359,145
Claims and insurance, net of settlements 674,845 1,117,833
Advemsmg 99,638 122,695
MISCellanNEOUS . i o S 0y s S L s 486,116 348,897
Tt Al s e S U S S S R 69,766,935 67,691,359
DEPRECIATION o s v s s e st s 8,227,145 8,564,858
Total operating eXPEeNnSES........c.covvviieveesieviirir e 77,994,080 76,256,217
OPERATING LOSS. . e e (64,699,185) (62,836,348)
NON-OPERATING REVENUES:
Sales tax revenues.. 47,615,932 47,007,395
Federal operating grants and re:mbursements .............................. 11,479,652 10,866,698
State operating grants, reimbursements and
Special Tare ASBISIERNTE o s R S R 1,416,616 1,455,882
Investment income.. 1,176,901 1,008,101
Nontransportation and other revenue.. 748,242 549,046
TR s s o SR O v R 62,437,343 60,887,122
Loss before capital grants & special item......................L (2,261,842) (1,949,2286)
CAPITAL GRANT REVENUES:
Federal ...t e e 7,923,838 3,215,213
L] L= PP 2,136,637 1,608,175
(01571 O PO - 7,156
Total 10,060,475 4,830,544
SPECIAL ITEM -
L:05S On transferof assels s ssnssmamnumnran s s - (665,492)
L05s on project impaimment. . o msmm s esssssersom s siinammss (946,917) (17,471,064)
Total (946,917) (18,136,556)
CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 6,851,716 (15,255,238)
NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR ... 92,965,643 108,220,881
NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR ..ot e 99,817,359 92,965,643
See notes to financial statements.
(continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

2007

2006

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received from CUSIOMENS.........covvviiiiiieeee e $
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services.........................
Cash payments {o employees for services. ...,
Cash payments for employees benefits.............ccooooooiiiiii
Cash payments for casualty and liability...............cccooeeviiiiiiriis
Other receipts...

13,056,965
(22,378,551)
(28,300,882)
(18,360,243)
(1,513,709)

348,626

$

13,176,731
(23,625,579)
(27,706,365)
(18,527,440)

(246,177)
1,225 486

Net cash used in opera‘rmg actl\ntles .....................................

(57,147,794)

(55,703,344)

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Sales taxes reCeIVE i i s 47,244 487 46,216,292
Federal operating assistance received............ccccccccvveviiiiiieiien. 11,126,568 10,822,480
State operating and other assistance received.................ccoeeieeen. 1,416,616 1,455,882
Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities............ 59,787,671 58,494,654
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Federal capital grants received... 7,679,186 3,648,294
State capital grants received... - 2,234 117 1,542,437
Acquisition and construction of ﬁxed assets ...................................... (12,546,371) (5,155,015)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets... i ; 63,130 -
Net cash provided by (used m) capltal and related fmancmg (2,569,938) 35,716
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest received from investments..........oo 1,176,901 1,008,101
Net cash provided by investing activities.................ccccoeenn. 1,176,901 1,008,101
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,246,840 3,835,127
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR............... 26,277,376 22,442 249
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR.........oeooeee $ 27,524,216 $ 26,277,376
See notes to financial statements.
{continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH

USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating LOSS. ..o oo

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in

operating activities:

D DT ECIaON s e e L A B S e g e

Inventory obsolescence reserve adjustments........................
Deferred ReVENUE. .. ... ot e ea e

Other receipts.................

Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in other receivables..........................
Increase in materials and supplies inventory......................
(Increase) decrease in otherassets.....................coeein,
Decrease in accounts payable, accrued
compensation, self-insurance liabilities and other............

Net cash used in operating activities

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH ACTIVITY

Property purchases in accounts payable

See notes to financial statements.

2007

2006

$ (64,699,185)

8,227,145
(163,456)
(13,884)

748,242

(637,545)
(260,303)
573,780

(922,588)

$ (62,836,348)

8,564,858
(88,110)
(13,884)
549,046

433,302
(502,077)
(616,635)

(1,193,496)

$ (57,147,794)

$ (55,703,344)

$ 103,598

$

50,962
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

(1) Organization and Reporting Entity
Organization

The Central Ohio Transit Authority (COTA or the Authority) is an independent, special purpose
subdivision of the State of Ohio. The Authority was created on February 17, 1971, pursuant to
Sections 306.30 through 306.53 of the Ohio Revised Code for the purpose of providing public
transportation in Central Ohio, primarily Franklin County and surrounding areas. The Authority
commenced operations on January 1, 1974. As a political subdivision, the Authority is distinct
from, and is not an agency of, the State of Ohio or any other local government unit.

Under Ohio law, the Authority is authorized to levy a sales and use tax for transit purposes,
including both capital improvement and operating expenses, in 0.25% increments up to a
maximum rate of 1.5% if approved by a majority of the electors residing within the territorial
boundaries of the Authority. Such a sales and use tax is in addition to the sales and use taxes
levied by the State of Ohio and Franklin County. On November 5, 1999, the voters of Franklin
County approved a permanent 0.25% sales and use tax. On November 2, 2006, the voters of
Franklin County and surrounding counties within the COTA district approved a temporary 10 year
additional 0.25% sales and use tax.

The Authority also has the power, under Section 306.40 of the Ohio Revised Code, to levy and
collect both voted (after approval at an election) and unvoted ad valorem taxes on all the taxable
property within the territorial boundaries of the Authority, in order to pay debt service on its bonds
and notes issued in anticipation thereof. Ad valorem taxes were not levied during fiscal years
2007 and 2006.

The Authority is governed by a 13-member Board of Trustees. Members are appointed by the
mayors of COTA’s chartering municipal corporations and by the Franklin County Board of
Commissioners and serve overlapping 3-year terms.

The Authority is not subject to federal or state income taxes.

(continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

(2)

Reporting Entity

The accompanying financial statements comply with the provisions of the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity. This
statement requires that financial statements of the reporting entity include all of the organization,
activities, functions and component units for which the reporting entity is financially accountable.
Financial accountability is defined as the appointment of a voting majority of the component unit's
board and either (1) the reporting entity’s ability to impose its will over the component unit, or (2)
the possibility that the component unit will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial
burden on the reporting entity. COTA does not have financial accountability over any entities.

The City of Columbus (the City) is a related organization to COTA as the Mayor of the City, with
the approval of City Council, appoints a voting majority of COTA’s Board. However, the financial
statements of COTA are not included within the City’s “Reporting Entity” as the City cannot
impose its will and there is no financial benefit or financial burden relationship between the City
and COTA.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting,
whereby revenues and expenses are recognized in the period earned or incurred. All
transactions are accounted for in a single enterprise fund.

Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 20 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds
and Other Governmental Entities that Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, the Authority follows
GASB guidance as applicable to proprietary funds and Financial Accounting Standards Board
Statements and Interpretations, Accounting Principles Board Opinions and Accounting Research
Bulletins issues on or before November 30, 1989, that do not conflict with or contradict GASB
pronouncements. The Authority also has the option of following subsequent private-sector
guidance, subject to this same limitation. The Authority has elected not to follow subsequent
private-sector guidance as it relates to its operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Authority considers all highly liquid investments

with a maturity of three months or less when purchased and deposits in the State Treasurer’s
Asset Reserve investment pool (STAR Ohio) to be cash equivalents.

(continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Grant and Assistance

The federal government, through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), and the Ohio
Department of Transportation, (ODOT) provides financial assistance and makes grants directly to
the Authority for operations and the acquisition of property and equipment. Grants for operating
assistance and preventative maintenance are recorded as revenues during the entitlement period
to which the grants apply.

Investments

Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain
Investments and External Investment Pools, investments are carried at fair value based on
quoted market prices. Any unrealized gains or losses are recognized as adjustments to
investment income. The Authority’s policy is to hold investment securities to their scheduled
maturities.

Inventory of Materials and Supplies

Inventory items are stated at cost using the weighted average method. Inventory generally
consists of maintenance parts and supplies for transportation equipment and inventory items are
expensed when consumed.

Board Designated Assets

These assets are designated for the payment of public liability claims under the Authority’s self-
insurance program and for future capital expenditures.

Designated for Capital Grant Expenditures

These assets are restricted under the Authority’s capital grants for certain capital projects. The
Authority also includes in designated capital grant asset amounts relating to its local share
requirements for active capital grants.

Net Assets — Equity displayed in three components as follows:

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt — This consists of capital assets, net of

accumulated depreciation, less the outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvements of those assets.

Restricted — This consists of net assets that are legally restricted by outside parties or by law
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. When both restricted and unrestricted
resources are available for use, generally it is the Authority’s policy to use restricted resources
first, and then use unrestricted resources when they are needed.

Unrestricted — This consists of net assets that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or
“invested in capital assets, net of related debt”.

(continued)

20



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Classifications of Revenues

The Authority has classified its revenue as operating, non-operating or capital grant. Operating
revenue includes activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions including
passenger fares and advertising. Non-operating revenue includes activities that have the
characteristics of non-exchange transactions, such as sales tax proceeds and most federal,
state, or other reimbursement or donation for the acquisition of property and equipment.

Recognition of Revenue and Receivables

The federal government, through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and the Ohio
Department of Transportation (ODOT), provide financial assistance and make grants directly to
the Authority for operations and acquisition of property and equipment. Operating grants and
special fare assistance awards made on the basis of entitlement periods are recorded as grant
receivables and revenues over the entitlement periods. Capital grants for the acquisition of
property and equipment (reimbursement type grants) are recorded as grant receivables and
credited to non-operating revenues in the period operating expenditures are incurred. Capital
grants received in advance of project costs being incurred are deferred.

When assets acquired with capital grant funds are disposed of before their useful life, the
Authority is required to notify the granting federal agency. A proportional amount of the proceeds
or fair market value, if any, of such property and equipment, may be used to acquire like-kind
replacement vehicles or remitted to the granting federal agency.

Property and Depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost and include expenditures that substantially
increase the useful lives of existing assets. Routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as
incurred. An asset is capitalized if its value exceeds $2,000 and it has an economic life of greater
than one year. The asset capitalization level for projects funded by grants is the full cost of the
assets acquired regardless of the $2,000 threshold. The capitalization cost of a physical asset is
defined to be the full cost of placing the asset into productive service.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets, as follows:

Description Years
Land and leasehold improvements 5-20
Buildings and improvements 20-40
Revenue vehicles 4-12
Transit shelters 5-8
Other equipment 1-10

(continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Property and Depreciation (continued)

Assets acquired with capital grants are included in property and equipment and depreciation on
those assets is included in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets.

Estimated Claims Payable

The Authority has a self-insurance program for public liability, personal injury, property damage
and worker's compensation (see Note 7). Claims are accrued in the year the expenses are
incurred, based upon estimates of the claim liabilities made by management and the legal
counsel of the Authority. Also provided for are estimates of claims incurred during the year but
not yet reported. These estimates are based on past experience and current outstanding claims.

Compensated Absences
The Authority accrues vacation and sick pay benefits as earned by its employees. Non-current

accrued fringe benefits are estimated based on the average vacation and sick expense from the
previous five years.

Current Non-current
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2005 § 3493885 § 617,990
Vacation & Sick Liability Earned 3,177,283 -
Vacation & Sick Liability Paid (3,193,640) (208,315)
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2006 $ 3477528 § 409,675
Vacation & Sick Liability Earned 3,306,191 -
Vacation & Sick Liability Paid (3,397,679) 99,022
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2007 $ 3,386,040 & 508,697

Passenger Fares

Passenger fares are recorded as revenue at the time services are performed.

Budgetary Accounting and Control
The Authority’s annual budget is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting as permitted by

law. The Authority maintains budgetary control by not allowing total expenditures to exceed total
appropriations without approval of the Board of Trustees.

o (continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Use of Estimates

The accounting and reporting policies of COTA conform to accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results differ from those estimates.

Non-exchange Transactions

Non-exchange transactions, in which the Authority receives value without directly giving equal
value in return, include sales tax revenue and grants. On an accrual basis, revenue from sales
taxes is recognized in the period when the underlying exchange transaction occurs. Therefore,
taxes on items sold in 2007 will be recognized as revenue in 2007. Revenue from grants is
recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility
requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources are
required to be used or the fiscal year when use is first permitted, and expenditure requirements,
in which the resources are provided to the Authority on a reimbursement basis.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2004, GASB issued Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers
for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions. This statement established standards for the
measurement, recognitions, and display of OPEB expense/expenditures and related liabilities
(assets), note disclosures, and, if applicable, required supplementary information in the financial
reports of the state and local government employers. This statement will not be effective for the
Authority until periods beginning after December 15, 2007, and as such, the Authority has not
determined the impact that this statement will have on its financial statements.

(continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

During December 2004, the GASB issued Statement No. 46, Net Assets Restricted by
Legislation, an amendment of GASB Statement No. 34. This statement clarifies that a legally
enforceable enabling legislation restriction is one that a party external to a government, such as
citizens, public interest groups, or the judiciary-can compel a government to honor. The
Statement states that the legal enforceability of an enabling legislation restriction should be
reevaluated if any of the resources raised by the enabling legislation are used for a purpose not
specified by the enabling legislation or if a government has other cause for reconsideration.
Although the determination that a particular restriction is not legally enforceable may cause a
government to review the enforceability of other restrictions, it should not necessarily lead a
government to the same conclusion for all enabling legislation restrictions. This statement also
specifies the accounting and financial reporting requirements if new enabling legislation replaces
existing enabling legislation or if legal enforceability is reevaluated. Finally, this Statement
requires governments to disclose the portion of total net assets that is restricted by enabling
legislation. The requirements of this statement are effective for the Authority for 2006, and as
such, the Authority has determined that this statement has no impact on its financial statements.

In June 2005, GASB issued Statement No. 47, Accounting for Termination Benefits. This
statement provides accounting and reporting guidance for state and local governments that offer
either voluntary termination benefits (e.g. early retirement incentives) or involuntary termination
benefits (i.e., severance). The significant requirements of Statement 47 include the recognition in
accrual basis financials as a liability and expense for involuntary termination benefits when (1) a
termination plan has been approved by those with the authority to commit the government to the
plan, (2) the plan has been communicated to the employees, and (3) the amount can be
estimated. A liability and expense for voluntary termination benefits should be recognized when
the offer is accepted and the amount can be estimated. Statement 47 also requires employers to
disclose a description of the termination benefit arrangements, the cost of the termination
benefits, and the significant methods and assumptions used to determine termination benefit
liabilities. Statement 47 is effective for the Authority in 2006, and as such, the Authority has
determined that there is no material impact on its financial statements.

In September 2006, GASB issued Statement No. 48, Sales and Pledges of Receivables and
Future Revenues and Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets and Future Revenues and Statement No.
49, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations. The
requirements for these Statements become effective in fiscal years 2007 and 2008, respectively,
and as such, the Authority has determined that there is no material impact on its financial
statements.

Lastly, in May, 2007, GASB issued Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures an amendment of
GASB Statements No. 25 and No. 27. The requirements for this statement become effective in
fiscal year 2008. The Authority is in the process of determining the impact on the financial
statements.

(continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

(3) Cash and Investments

The investment and deposit of Authority monies are governed by the provisions of the Ohio
Revised Code. In accordance with these statutes, only financial institutions located in Ohio are
eligible to hold public deposits. The statutes also permit the Authority to invest its monies in
certificates of deposit, savings accounts, money market accounts, the State Treasurer's Asset
Reserve investment pool (STAR Ohio), and obligations of the United States government or
certain agencies thereof. The Authority may also enter into repurchase agreements with any
eligible depository for a period not exceeding thirty days. The Authority is prohibited from
investing in any financial instrument, contract, or obligation whose value or return is based upon
or linked to ancther asset or index, or both, separate from the financial instrument, contract, or
obligation itself (commonly known as a derivative). The Authority is also prohibited from investing
in reserve purchase agreements.

STAR Ohio is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer's Office, which allows
governments within the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not
registered with the Securities Exchange Commission as an investment company, but does
operate in a manner similar to Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in
STAR Ohio are valued at STAR Ohio’s share price, which is the price the investment could be
sold for on December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Public depositories must give security for all public funds on deposit. These institutions may
either specifically collateralize individual accounts in addition to amounts insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), or may pledge a pool of government securities with a
market value equal to 105% of the total value of public monies on deposit at the institution.
Repurchase agreements must be secured by the specific government securities upon which the
repurchase agreements are based. These securities must be obligations of or guaranteed by the
United States and mature or be redeemable within five years of the date of the related
repurchase agreement. State law does not require security for public deposits and investments
to be maintained in the Authority’s name.

(continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Deposits With Financial Institutions

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Authority’s deposits may not
be returned. Public depositories must give security for all public funds on deposit. All deposits
are collateralized with eligible securities in amounts equal to at least 105% of the carrying value
of the deposit. Such collateral, as permitted by Chapter 135 of the Ohio Revised Code, is held in
financial institution collateral pools at Federal Reserve Banks, or at member banks of the Federal
Reserve System, in the name of the respective depository bank and pledged as a pool of
collateral against all of the public deposits it holds or as specific collateral held at the Federal
Reserve Bank in the name of the Authority.

At December 31, 2007, the carrying amount of the Authority's deposits with financial institutions
was $5,486,642 and the bank balance was $5,701,019. The difference results mainly from
outstanding checks. Based on criteria as described in GASB Statement No. 40, “Deposit and
Investment Risk Disclosure”, as of December 31, 2007, $100,994 was covered by Federal
Deposit Insurance. The $5,600,025 exposed to custodial risk was collateralized by a pool of
securities maintained by the Authority’s financial institutions but not in the Authority’'s name. In
addition, the Authority had $5,220 of cash on hand

At December 31, 2006, the carrying amount of the Authority’s deposits with financial institutions
was $4,351,860 and the bank balance was $5,741,075. The difference results mainly from
outstanding checks. Based on criteria as described in GASB Statement No. 40, “Deposit and
Investment Risk Disclosure”, as of December 31, 2006, $100,789 was covered by Federal
Deposit Insurance. The $5,640,286 exposed to custodial risk was collateralized by a pool of
securities maintained by the Authority’s financial institutions but not in the Authority’s name. In
addition, the Authority had $5,220 of cash on hand.

Investments and Other Deposits

As of December 31, 2007 and 20086, the Authority held equity of $22,032,354 and $21,920,296
respectively, in the STAR Ohio investment pool. As of March 2008, Star Ohio has maintained the
highest Standard and Poors rating of AAA. This investment has not been categorized based on
a custodial risk because it is not a security. The relationship between the Authority and the
investment asset is a direct contractual relationship and the investments evidence ownership or
creditorship.

_____(continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

(4) Capital Assets

Capital asset activities for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:
Land
CIP

Total

Capital Assets Being Depreciated:
Land and leasehold improvements
Building and improvements
Revenue vehicles
Transit shelter
Other equipment

Total

Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Land and leasehold improvements
Building and improvements
Revenue vehicles
Transit shelter
Other equipment

Total

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net

Total Capital Assets, Net

December 31,

January 1, 2007 Additions Disposals Transfers 2007
$ 5448906 -3 - $ 2 § 5448908
2,231,236 247676 (20,000)  (1,668,740) 790,172
7,680,142 247676 (20,000)  (1,668,738) 6,239,080
8,787,442 25,305 25,150 8,837,897
44 390,102 62,221 (926,918) 2,689,707 46,215112
67,577,630 11,181,646 (5,080,594) 834,552 74,513,234
1,981,253 260,515 - 47,048 2,288,816
27,137,687 769,011 (19,245)  (1,927,719) 25,959,734
149 874,114 12,298,698 (6,026,757) 1,668,738 157,814,793
(6,582,097) (668,291) (7,250,388)
(18,980,484) (1,316,961) (20,297 445)
(47,087,665) (4,756,051) 4,675,397 (47,168,319)
(1,161,561) (441,630) (1,603,191)
(22,394,335) (1,032,276) 404,761 (23,021,850)
(96,206,142) (8,215,209) 5,080,158 - (99,341,193)
53,667,972 4,083,489 (946,599) 1,668,738 58,473,600
$ 61348114 § 4331165 §  (966,599) § - $ 64712680

(continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

(4) Capital Assets (continued)

(S)

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:
Land
CIP

Total

Capital Assets Being Depreciated:
Land and leasehold improvements
Building and improvements
Revenue vehicles
Transit shelter
Other equipment

Total

Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Land and leasehold improvements
Building and improvements
Revenue vehicles
Transit shelter
Other equipment

Total

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net

Total Capital Assets, Net

December 31,

January 1, 2006  Additions Disposals Transfers 2006
$ 5445576 % - % - % 3330 § 5448906
19,693,961 4312485 (17,471,064) (4,304,126) 2,231,236
25,139,537 4,312,465 (17,471,064) (4,300,796) 7,680,142
9,097,046 (367,447) 57,843 8,787,442
44 949 807 513,463 (1,073,168) 44,390,102
69,326,152 (1,895,729) 147,207 67,577,630
2,120,905 (1,214,842) 1,075,190 1,981,253
27,754,920 329,063 (5,039,020) 4,093,724 27,138,687
153,248,830 842,526 (8,517,038 4300796 149875114
(6,281,408) (528,033) 227,344 (6,582,097)
(17,628,582) (1,351,902) - (18,980,484)
(44,330,217) (3,987,684) 1,230,236 (47,087,665)
(2,094,689) (281,714) 1,214,842 (1,161,561)
(25,157,934) (2,415,525) 5,179,124 (22,394,335)
(95,492,830) (8,564,858) 7,851,546 (96,206,142)
57,756,000 (7,722,332) (665,492) 4,300,796 53,668,972
$ 82895537 § (3,409867) § (18,136,556) $ - § 61349114

For discussion of the $665,492 transfer of revenue vehicles, see Note 10, Special ltem in

2006.

Leases

COTA leases certain property and office equipment under operating leases. Rental expense for
all operating leases was approximately $221,902 in 2007 and $359,000 in 2006. No lease
commitments exist after 2008 and the remaining minimum payments are $27,758 in 2008.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Grants, Reimbursements and Special Fare Assistance

Grants, reimbursements and special fare assistance included in the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Assets for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, consist
of the following:

2007 2006
Federal:
FTA Operating Assistance $ 11479652 $ 10,866,698
FTA Capital Assistance 7,923,838 3,215,213
Total $ 19403490 $ 14,081,911
State:
ODOQOT Elderly and Disabled Fare Assistance $ 766,168 $ 817,978
ODOT Fuel Tax Reimbursement 647,028 627,351
ODOT Capital Assistance 2,136,637 1,608,175
Other Local Operating Assistance 3,420 17,709
Total $ 3,553253 % 3,071,213

Risk Management

COTA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft or destruction of assets, injuries to
employees and natural disasters. The Authority purchases commercial insurance for employee
bonding, flood, fire, property, crime, travel and general liability. There have been no reductions
in coverage nor have there been any settlements exceeding insurance coverage for the past
three years.

COTA is self-insured for all public liability, personal injury and property damage claims. The
estimated liability for such claims of $508,347 at December 31, 2007, and $1,401,301 at
December 31, 2006, are included in estimated claims payable in the accompanying balance
sheets. At December 31, 2007, and 2006, $11,396,741 and $12,373,009, respectively, were
restricted by the Board of Trustees to fund the self-insurance program. Such funds are included
in board designated assets in the accompanying balance sheets.

Prior to June 30, 1998, COTA was insured through the State of Ohio Bureau of Workers’
Compensation (BWC) for injuries to its employees. On July 1, 1998, the Authority entered into an
agreement with the BWC to become self-insured for claims pertaining to work-related injuries to
Authority employees occurring on or after that date. The BWC agreed to continue to administer
and pay all compensation claims arising on or before June 30, 1998. The estimated liability for all
such claims occurring since July 1, 1998, is $660,998 at December 31, 2007, and is included as
a liability in the accompanying balance sheet.

___(continued)

29



7

(8)

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Risk Management (continued)

The general claims liability was calculated by establishing reserves on a case-by-case basis after
analysis by in-house counsel and outside attorneys. The workers’ compensation liability was
determined by analyzing claim lag information provided by COTA third party administrators. A
summary of changes in self-insurance claims liability for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005 follows:

Workers'
General Liability Compensation

Claims liability at December 31, 2005 547,428 520,954
Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements 1,100,050 719,317

Claims paid (246,177) (545,910)
Claims liability at December 31, 2006 1,401,301 694,361

Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements 620,255 585,430
Claims paid (1,513,209) (618,793)
Claims liability at December 31, 2007 3 508,347 $ 660,998

Pension Plan

COTA contributes to the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS), which administers
three separate pension plans as described below: the Traditional Pension Plan (TP) — a cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan; the Member Directed Plan (MD) — a
defined contribution plan: and the Combined Plan (CO) — a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan that has elements of both a defined benefit and defined contribution
plan. OPERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and post-retirement health care benefits to
qualifying members of both the TP and CO plans; however, health care benefits are not
statutorily guaranteed. Members of the MD plan do not qualify for ancillary benefits, including
post-employment health care coverage. Chapter 145 of the Ohio Revised Code (ORC) assigns
the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the OPERS Board of Trustees (Board).

The ORC provides statutory authority for member and employer contributions. For 2007,
member and employer contribution rates were consistent across all three plans. The 2007
member contribution rates were 9.5% of their annual covered salary and COTA is required to
contribute an actuarially determined rate. In 2007, the employer contribution rate for local
employers was 13.85% of annual covered payroll. In 2006, the employer contribution rate for
local employers was 13.7% of annual covered payroll.

(continued)
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(8) Pension Plan (continued)

The Authority’s contributions to OPERS for the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006, and
2005 were approximately $4,513,000 $4,390,000, and $4,887,000 respectively, equal to the
required contributions for each year. Required employer contributions are equal to 100% of the
dollar amount extracted from the Authority’s records.

The assumptions and calculations below were based on OPERS’ latest actuarial review
performed as of December 31, 2006. The individual entry age actuarial cost method of valuation
is used in determining the present value of OPEB. The difference between assumed and actual
experience (actuarial gains and losses) becomes part of unfunded actuarial accrued liability. All
investments are carried at market value. For actuarial valuation purposes, a smoothed market
approach is used. Under this approach, assets are adjusted to reflect 25% of unrealized market
appreciation or depreciation on investment assets annually, not to exceed a 12% corridor. The
investment assumption rate for 2006 was 6.5%. An annual increase of 4.00%, compounded
annually, is the base portion of the individual pay increase assumption. This assumes no change
in the number of active employees. In addition, annual pay increases over and above the 4.00%
base increase, were assumed to range from .50% to 6.30%. Health care costs were assumed to
increased at the projected wage inflation rate plus an additional factor ranging from 0.50% to
5.00% for the next 8 years. In subsequent years, (9 and beyond) health care costs were
assumed to increases at 4.00% (the projected wage inflation rate).

OPEB is advance funded on an actuarially determined basis. The Traditional Pension and
Combined Plans had 374,979 active contributing participants as of December 31, 2007. The
number of active contributing participants for both plans used in the December 31, 2006,
actuarial valuation was 362,130. The actuarial value of the Retirement System’s net assets
available for OPEB at December 31, 2006 was $12.0 billion. Based on the actuarial cost method
used, the Actuarial Valuation as of December 31, 2006, reported the actuarial accrued liability
and the unfunded actuarial accrued liability for OPEB at $30.7 billion and $18.7 billion,
respectively.

OPERS’ issues a stand-alone financial report that includes the financial statements. That report
may be obtained by writing to Ohio Public Employees Retirement System, 277 East Town Street,
Columbus, Ohio, 43215-4642, or by calling 1-614-222-5601 or 1-800-222-PERS (7377).

The postretirement health care coverage includes a medical plan, prescription drug program and
Medicare Part B premium reimbursement to qualifying members. In order to qualify for post
retirement health care coverage, age and service retirees under the TP and CO must have 10 or
more years of qualifying Ohio service credit. Health care coverage for disability recipients and
primary survivor recipients is available. The health care coverage provided by the retirement
system meets the definition of an Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) as described in GASB
Statement No. 45, “Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-employment
Benefits other than Pension.” A portion of each contribution to OPERS is set aside for the
funding of post retirement health care.

__(continued)
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Pension Plan (continued)

The Ohio Revised Code provides the statutory authority requiring public employers to fund post
retirement health care through their contributions to OPERS. A portion of each employer's
contribution to OPERS is set aside for the funding of post retirement health care benefits. Active
members do not make contributions to the OPEB plan. OPERS Post Employment Health Care
plan was established under, and is administered in accordance with, Internal Revenue Code
401(h). The 2007 employer contribution rate for local employers was 13.85% of annual covered
payroll. For 2007, the employer contribution allocated to the health care plan from January 1
through June 30 2007 and July 1 through December 31 2007 was 5% and 6% of covered payroll
respectively. For 2006, 4% was the portion that was used to fund health care for the year.
COTA's contributions actually made to fund post-employment benefits totaled $1,792,000 in
2007, $1,282,000 in 2006, $1,443,000 in 2005.

Under the HCPP, retirees eligible for health care coverage will receive a graded monthly
allocation based on their years of service at retirement. The Plan incorporates a cafeteria
approach, offering a broad range of health care options that allow benefit recipients to use their
monthly allocation to purchase health care coverage customized to meet their individual needs.
If the monthly allocation exceeds the cost of the options selected, the excess is deposited into a
Retiree Medical Account that can be used to fund future health care expenses.

The Heaith Care Preservation Plan (HCPP) adopted by the OPERS Retirement Board on
September 9, 2004, was effective January 1, 2007. Member and employer contribution rates
increased as of January 1, 2006, January 1, 2007 and January 1, 2008, which allowed additional
funds to be allocated to the health care plan.

Contingent Liabilities
Litigation

It is the Authority’s policy to act as self-insurer for certain insurable risks consisting primarily of
public liability and property damage. At December 31, 2007, COTA has been named in various
public liability and property damage claims and suits, some of which seek significant damages.
The ultimate outcome of the claims and suits cannot be determined; however, it is the opinion of
management that any resulting liability to the Authority in excess of that provided for in the
accompanying balance sheet will not have a material adverse effect on the Authority’s financial
position.

(continued)
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Federal and State Grants

Under the terms of the Authority’s various grants, periodic audits are required where certain costs
could be questioned as not being an eligible expenditure under the terms of the grants. At
December 31, 2007, there were no material questioned costs that had not been resolved with
appropriate federal and state agencies. Questioned costs could still be identified during audits to
be conducted in the future. In the opinion of COTA’s management, no material grant
expenditures will be disallowed.

FTA grant stipulations also require the granter to retain assets acquired by FTA funds for the full
estimated asset life (as determined by the FTA). If this provision is not met, the granter must
refund FTA’s un-depreciated basis in assets disposed.

(10) Special Item — Loss on transfer of assets

In 2001, the Authority purchased 38 low-floor 30-foot diesel powered buses from Advanced Bus
Industries (ABI). In the fall of 2001, ABI filed for bankruptcy and the company’'s assets were
liquidated. During the next three years, COTA experienced a multitude of equipment failures on
the ABI buses including chassis structure cracks, passenger door controller problems, engine
compartment seal defects, and premature brake wear. In 2003, the ABI buses were the costliest
in the fleet to operate at $0.55 per mile. Service calls on ABI buses amounted to 23% of all fleet
breakdowns. In June 2005, the Authority received permission from the FTA to transfer the
remaining Federal interest in six of the ABI buses to other FTA grant recipient transit systems
and the COTA Board of Trustees authorized the transfer of the Federal interest and title. The
transfer of the remaining six ABI buses resulted in a $665,492 loss in 2006 of the remaining net
book value of the buses. The Authority purchased new replacement buses in 2004 and 2005
with lower operating and maintenance costs.

____(continued)

33



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

11) Special ltem — Loss on project impairment

Since 2002, COTA staff has been working with the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), Mid
Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC), and the Ohio Department of Transportation
(ODOT), consultants, local government officials, and the general public to study the feasibility of
constructing a fixed guideway transit project in the North Corridor.

In 2003, the project scoping was completed and four (4) alternatives emerged for further analysis:
(1) a “No build” alternative and three “Build” alternatives including (1) Bus Rapid Transit, (2)
Streetcar, and (3) Light Rail Transit. COTA Staff, working in concert with the various
stakeholders, conducted the Alternative Analysis (AA) and Preliminary Draft Environmental
Impact Statement (DEIS) identifying the impacts, benefits, and cost effectiveness of the
alternatives as outlined by the FTA criteria.

The financial feasibility of any North Corridor fixed guideway option relies upon a 50%
contribution of federal funding. The FTA currently requires that projects have a Cost
Effectiveness Index (CEl) lower than $23 per hour of user benefit in order to receive federal
funding for construction. None of the fixed guideway options under consideration in the North
Corridor achieved this standard. The corridor may be reconsidered for fixed guideway
development at such time as there are significant changes in travel within the corridor, fuel costs,
or FTA project evaluation criteria. At December 31, 2006, the Authority concluded that
$13,785,824 of costs that have been capitalized as a result of the efforts mentioned above are
impaired under GASB Statement No. 42. In addition, the Authority identified additional projects
related to the North Corridor Project that were also impaired in the amount of $3,685,240 as of
December 31, 2006.

At December 31, 2007, the Authority concluded that $946,917 of ITS project costs that had been
capitalized were impaired under GASB Statement No. 42.

(concluded)




Deloitte.

Deloitte & Touche LLP

155 East Broad Street
Columbus, OH 43215-3611
USA

Tel: +1 614 221 1000
Fax: +1 614 229 4647
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Trustees of
Central Ohio Transit Authority:

We have audited the financial statements of Central Ohio Transit Authority (the “Authority”) as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, and have issued our report thereon dated June 20, 2008.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Audit Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Authority’s internal control over financial
reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect
misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination of
control deficiencies, that adversely affects the Authority’s ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or
report financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles such that there
is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of the Authority’s financial statements that is more
than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the Authority’s internal control.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in
more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements will not be
prevented or detected by the entity’s internal control.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the
first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that
might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.

Member of
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

We noted certain matters that we reported to management of the Authority in a separate letter dated
June 20, 2008.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of Trustees, others
within the Authority, and the Auditor of State of Ohio, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used
by anyone other than these specified parties.

D gty ? Towcde LLA

June 20, 2008
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155 East Broad Street
Columbus, OH 43215-3611
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Tel: +1 614 221 1000
Fax: +1 614 229 4647
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS
APPLICABLE TO EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133

To the Board of Trustees of
Central Ohio Transit Authority:

Compliance

We have audited the compliance of Central Ohio Transit Authority (the “Authority”) with the types of
compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133
Compliance Supplement that are applicable to cach of its major federal programs for the year ended
December 31, 2007. The Authority’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Compliance with
requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to each of its major federal programs is
the responsibility of Authority’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Authority’s compliance based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of
States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect
on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the
Authority’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our
audit does not provide a legal determination of the Authority’s compliance with those requirements.

In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above
that are applicable to cach of its major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2007. However,
the results of our auditing procedures disclosed an instance of noncompliance with those requirements,
which are to be reported in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and which is described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2007-01.

Internal Control Over Compliance

The management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with requirement of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal
programs. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Authority’s internal control over
compliance with the requirements that could have a direct and material effect on major federal program in
order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.

Member of
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Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over
compliance.

A control deficiency in an entity’s internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of
a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent or detect noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program
on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or a combination of control

deficiencies, that adversely affects the Authority’s ability to administer a federal program such that there
is more than a remote likelihood that noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal
control.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or a combination of significant deficiencies, that results
in more than a remote likelihood that material noncompliance with a type of a federal program will not be
prevented or detected by the Authority’s internal control.

Our consideration of the internal control over compliance for the limited purposes described in the first
paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in the internal control that
might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of Trustees, others

within the entity, and the Auditor of State of Ohio, and federal awarding agencies and pass-through
entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

D Lcts T Towed LLP

June 20, 2008
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Grantor/Title:

Federal Transit Cluster

U.S. Department of Transportation—
Federal Transit Administration (FTA):

Direct Urbanized Area Formula Program
and Capital Grants—

Total Federal Transit Cluster

Federal Transit Administration

Total Federal Transit Administration

Total Federal Financial Assistance

CFDA #

20.500
20.500
20.500
20.507
20.507
20.507
20.507

20.516
20.516
20.516

See notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards.

39

Grant #

OH-03-0213
OH-04-0003
OH-90-X402
OH-90-X449
OH-90-X522
OH-90-X539
OH-90-X599

OH-37-X021
OH-37-X029
OH-37-X034

$

Total
Grants
Recognized

7,040
28,357
2,251,506
11,511
100,882
5,197,554
10,621,062

18,217,912

47,414
545,681
107,177

700,272

$

18,918,184




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

1. GENERAL

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all federal
financial assistance programs of the Authority. The Authority’s reporting entity is defined in Note 1
to the Authority’s financial statements.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented using the modified
cash basis of accounting.

3. RELATIONSHIP OF FEDERAL FINANCIAL REPORTS

Amounts reported in the accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards agree with
the amounts reported in the related federal financial reports.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Part —Summary of Auditors’ Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditors’ report issued Unqualified

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered

to be material weaknesses? Yes X N/A
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes X No
Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered
to be material weaknesses? Yes X N/A

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for
major programs Unqualified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with OMB Circular A-133
(Section .510(a))? X Yes No

Identification of major programs:

CFDA Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster Number
20.500 and 20.507 Federal Transit Cluster
20.516 Federal Transit JARC
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs $444 149
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? _ X Yes ____No
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Concluded)

Part II—Financial Statements Findings

Findings relating to the financial statements, which are required to be reported in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

No matters are reportable.
Part lli—Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

Finding 2007-01 U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Transit Administration Direct Urbanized
Area Formula Program CFDA 20.500

Requirement and condition: The Authority bills the FTA monthly on a reimbursement basis for fringe
benefits costs allowable under the maintenance grants. It was determined by the Authority that in 2007
in certain cases the Authority paid for medical coverage for terminated and existing employees.

Context and criteria: The Authority is permitted to bill and be reimbursed for certain allowable costs
for fringe benefits for maintenance employees.

Effect: As a result of the overpayment for insurance premiums for certain terminated and existing
employees the Authority billed for unallowable costs on an interim basis but by the end of the grant year
all amounts billed were allowable due to the grant limits.

Cause: The Authority failed to properly execute an existing control process to pay proper health
insurance premiums for both existing and terminated employees.

Recommendation: The Authority should provide all necessary training to administrative personnel
involved in the verification and payment of monthly health insurance costs. In addition supervisory
personnel should properly execute their oversight responsibilities of these calculations and payments.

Questions Costs: Ultimately there are no questioned costs as the total billings for the grant year are
less than incurred allowable costs. However, the monthly billings until the final December billing were in
excess of that month'’s allowable costs. Therefore the questioned cost would be the impact of billing in
advance of incurred which would be an interest factor which would approximate less than $10,000.

Views of Responsible Official: See corrective action plan.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 (Concluded)

Finding: 2007-01

Planned Corrective Action: The Authority acknowledges this control weakness and is taking
immediate steps to ensure the accuracy and policy compliance of health benefit program payments.
Management is refining standard operating procedures which will require timely reconciliations to
ensure that only allowable costs are submitted for reimbursement under Federal grant programs.

Anticipated Completion Date: December 31, 2008
Responsible Contact Person: Marion White

Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer
614-275-5830
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Central Ohio Transit Authority
Connecting Communities June 20. 2008

1600 McKinley Avenue
Columbus, Ohio 43222
614.275.5800

wWm |, Lhota
President/CEO

Board of Trustees of the

Central Ohio Transit Authority
and

Residents of Central Ohio:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the
Authority or COTA) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, is hereby respectfully submitted.
This CAFR was prepared by the Finance Division and represents the Authority’'s commitment to
provide accurate, concise and high quality financial information to its Board of Trustees and
interested parties.

The presentation of this CAFR contains financial statements and statistical data that provide full
disclosure of all the material financial operations of the Authority. The financial statements,
supplemental schedule, statistical information and all data contained herein are the representations
of the Authority’'s management. The Authority’'s management bears the responsibility for the
accuracy, completeness and fairness of the CAFR presentation.

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded
a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Central Ohio Transit
Authority for its comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2006. This was the eighth consecutive year that the Central Ohio Transit Authority has been
recognized with this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a
government agency must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive
annual financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and
applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year. We believe that our current
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s
requirements and we are submitting the 2007 report to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for
another certificate.

(continued)




LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

REPORTING ENTITY

General

The Authority’s reporting entity has been defined in accordance with Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) Statements No. 14 and 39. The financial statements contained within this
CAFR include all of the organizations, activities, functions and component units for which the
Authority is financially accountable. Financial accountability is defined as the appointment of a
voting majority of the component unit's board and either 1) the reporting entity’s ability to impose its
will over the component unit or 2) the possibility that the component unit will provide a financial
benefit to or impose a financial burden on the reporting entity. On this basis, the Authority does not
have financial accountability over any other entity, and no governmental units other than the
Authority itself are included in the reporting entity. Furthermore, the Authority is not included as a
component unit in the reporting entity of any other governmental unit's financial statements. A
complete discussion of the Authority’s reporting entity is included in Footnote 1 to the financial
statements.

The Central Ohio Transit Authority is an independent political subdivision of the State of Ohio with
its own taxing power. The Authority is not dependent upon appropriations from Franklin County,
the City of Columbus, or any other political subdivision for local funding. The Authority is
empowered by the Ohio Revised Code to issue general obligation debt secured by its own taxing
power.

The Authority was created by an agreement executed on February 17, 1971, with Franklin County
and the cities of Bexley, Columbus, Gahanna, Grandview Heights, Grove City, Hilliard,
Reynoldsburg, Upper Arlington, Westerville, Whitehall and Worthington. The Authority's territorial
boundaries are conterminous with Franklin County, except for a small portion of the Authority’s
territory in adjacent Delaware, Fairfield and Licking Counties.

Commencement of Operations

A purchase agreement was executed on June 29, 1973, providing terms for the transfer of the
properties, rights and obligations of the Columbus Transit Company (a now-defunct subsidiary of
the American Electric Power Company) to the Authority. An interim operating agreement permitted
the Columbus Transit Company to continue to provide transit services until December 31, 1973.
The Authority commenced operations on January 1, 1974.

The Central Ohio Transit Authority’s vision and mission statements are respectively:

The Central Ohio Transit Authority will be the transportation provider for central Ohio
with safe, reliable, convenient, affordable and user-friendly transportation for every
resident and visitor.

The Central Ohio Transit Authority is committed to excellence and will deliver superior
transportation services and conduct our business courteously, safely, ethically and
reliably. We will demonstrate leadership that is fiscally responsible and maintain a work
environment that is safe and productive. All employees are expected to embrace and
practice our values and standards to achieve the objectives of our vision.

These statements are the focus of all operations and support functions.




LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

Management - Board of Trustees

The Authority is managed by a Board of Trustees (the Board) vested by Ohio law with the powers
necessary to manage the Authority. The legislation and agreements establishing the Authority
provide for a 13-member Board serving overlapping three-year terms. Board membership is
apportioned as follows: City of Columbus, seven members; Franklin County, two members; and
one member each from the following groups of municipal corporations: Group A, Upper Arlington
and Grandview Heights; Group B, Worthington, Gahanna and Westerville; Group C, Whitehall and
Bexley; and Group D, Grove City, Reynoldsburg and Hilliard. When one Board member represents
several cities, the appointments are made on a rotational basis. Members are appointed by the
mayor of the appropriate municipal corporation with the consent of its city council. The Board of
County Commissioners appoints the Franklin County representatives.

Administration

The President/CEO, who is appointed by the Board, directs the administration of the Authority,
subject to the policies and supervision of the Board of Trustees. The President/CEO selects the
senior administrative personnel. A Table of Organization depicting the key functional
responsibilities is shown on Page 16 of this Introductory Section.

Transportation Services — Fixed-Route Bus Service

The Authority provides public transportation services within Franklin County, as well as portions of
Delaware, Fairfield and Licking Counties that are included within the municipal corporation limits of
Columbus, Westerville and Reynoldsburg. In 2007, this service included 54 fixed bus routes
comprised of 16 local routes, one LINK route, eight cross-town routes, 28 express routes, and one
route providing service to the Columbus Zoo during the summer season. The span of service
provided on these fixed-routes was from 4:51 am. to 1:51 a.m. on weekdays, 5:16 a.m. to 1:51
a.m. on Saturdays, and 7:05 a.m. to 1:51 a.m. on Sundays and holidays. Bus route schedules can
be obtained from the COTA Connection located at 60 East Broad Street in downtown Columbus,
by calling (614) 228-1776 and also are available at www.cota.com. An itinerary planner to help
plan a customer’s bus trip may also be accessed at COTA’s web site. Monthly, weekly and day
passes to ride the buses may be purchased from the COTA Connection and other pass sales
outlets throughout the community. Customers also can purchase adult day passes on the bus.

COTA makes changes and adjustments to its fixed route system three times a year. These
changes occur in January, May and September of each year. Service changes are determined
through an analysis of customer needs and the changing service area by COTA staff. Two public
meetings are held to inform the community of the planned changes and invite comment prior to
implementation of the route changes.

To address increasing customer needs for fixed-route bus service, service changes focus on four
key areas of improvement. upgrades in service frequency; expanded service coverage area;
expanded hours of operation; and decreased travel times. Expanding and modernizing the COTA
fleet of coaches is an essential component toward initiating these improvements. COTA has
entered into a 5 year contract for the purchase of 40 new buses each year. At the end of 2007,
COTA had 234 buses in its fleet.
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The Authority’s intention is to nearly double its fixed-route service hours by 2030. Under the
provisions described in COTA’s comprehensive Long-Range Transit Plan (LRTP), adopted in July
2006, COTA intends to increase fixed-route service hours from 625,000 hours in 2006 to 1,230,000
hours in 2030.

Throughout 2007, COTA in collaboration with the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) and
the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MOPRC) continued a pilot project to operate fixed-
route buses on the freeway shoulders of I-70 East. This project allows COTA buses to use the
freeway shoulder lane when traffic slowed to 35 mph. The main purpose was to maintain bus
schedules and improve on-time performance. The pilot program is under review by federal and
state authorities and an announcement on the results of the pilot project are expected in the first
quarter of 2008.

Transportation Services — Paratransit Service

Project Mainstream is a demand response shared-ride paratransit service available to individuals
whose disabilities prevent them from accessing COTA's fixed-route bus system. Project
Mainstream provides transportation when a customer’s origin and destination addresses are within
% of a mile of an operating fixed-route bus route. The contracted service for Project Mainstream
operates during the same hours as the fixed-route bus service. Individuals wishing to use this
service must complete an eligibility process and obtain an Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) ID
card. Certified customers must maintain their eligibility by re-certifying every three years. Once a
customer is determined eligible, a reservation call center is available to assist in reserving and
scheduling their trips. Reservations can be made one to seven days in advance. For more
information or to request an application for Project Mainstream services, call (614) 275-5828 or
send an e-mail to the web address paratransit@cota.com.

As described in the LRTP, Project Mainstream service hours are projected to increase by 50
percent during the same period.

In 2008, COTA is planning to begin construction of a new facility to house all Project Mainstream
operations and services. The 92,000-square-foot building will be located on COTA-owned property
across from COTA's Fields Avenue Facility, 1333 Fields Ave. The new facility will house up to 104
Paratransit vehicles, in accordance with COTA'’s goal, as explained in the LRTP, to double the size
of the Project Mainstream fleet by 2030. The new facility will also house Administrative offices of
the Project Mainstream program. COTA will be seeking LEED certification for the facility, meaning
that its design will be environmentally friendly. Groundbreaking is planned for late 2008, with
completion in 2010.

COTA continues to offer a Sedan Voucher Program utilizing transportation companies that provide
optional services to eligible paratransit demand response program customers. Approximately 800
sedan vouchers are distributed monthly and are available on a first-come, first-served basis. With
the Sedan Voucher Program, customers can travel by making a reservation less than 24 hours in
advance.
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Bike 'N Bus Program

COTA is also serving customers in its service area who choose to commute by bicycle. In 2004,
the Authority launched its Bike ‘N Bus Program. All of COTA’s fixed-route buses have front-
mounted bike racks, which hold two bicycles. There is no additional charge to the customer for this
service. COTA records the bike usage through the onboard tracking system. The Authority is
seeing increased use of this service. During 2007, 40,000 boardings were recorded which
represents a 9% increase of the Bike 'N Bus Program over the previous year.

Facilities Owned

1600 McKinley Avenue was constructed in 1980 and is the site of the Authority's administrative
headquarters and all fixed-route bus operations. The 390,000-square-foot facility also houses both
heavy (major) and light (routine) bus maintenance operations, and has an indoor storage capacity
for 240 buses.

1333 Fields Avenue opened in September 1984 is a 283,000-square-foot facility with storage for
200 buses and space for several light maintenance work areas and housed fixed-route bus and
light vehicle maintenance operations until 2006. Currently, COTA's radio room and facilities
maintenance operations are located at Fields. Fields is also currently used to house and operate
Project Mainstream. The Fields facility is scheduled to be renovated in 2009 in anticipation of the
return of fixed route bus operations.

Linden Transit Center is a 20,500-square-foot facility located at the corner of Cleveland and 11"
Avenues that opened in October 1999. The transit center houses a Nationwide Children’s Hospital
medical center, a day care center, as well as other amenities. Five express routes and two local
bus routes serve the transit center and the Linden LINK neighborhood circulator route, which
provides neighborhood transportation and connections to COTA'’s fixed-route services. Express
routes serving the Linden Transit Center also offer vital connections to job centers around the 1-270
Outerbelt, such as the Polaris area located in Delaware County just north of I-71 and 1-270, the
Easton area near Morse Road and 1-270, and the New Albany Business Park.

Easton Transit Center is a 1,350-square-foot facility that opened in May 2002. The facility
includes an 8,950-square-foot overhead canopy with four bus bays, a 50 vehicle capacity park and
ride lot, an adjacent 9,650-square-foot day care center, and other passenger amenities. Located
north of Morse Road at the southeast corner of Transit Drive and Stelzer Road the transit center
helps COTA serve commuters in northeastern Franklin County. One express route, one crosstown
route, and one local bus route serve this terminal.

North Terminal is an outdoor facility located on Spring Street between High and Front Streets in
downtown Columbus. This terminal has six bays for express routes. Currently eight express routes
and one local bus route utilize the terminal to serve passengers in the north downtown area.

Near East Transit Center is a 9,600-square-foot facility located at the corner of East Main Street
and Champion Avenue in the Columbus Empowerment Zone (an economically disadvantaged area
with high unemployment) that opened in September 2005. The Near East Transit Center includes
a Nationwide Children’'s Hospital “Close to Home" facility to provide neighborhood medical
services. The building also contains leasable retail space.
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Facilities Leased

City Center Terminal is a 41,000-square-foot facility opened in November 1989. The terminal is
located in the downtown City Center Parking Garage between Rich and Main Streets. Elevators
and escalators provide pedestrian and disabled access to the terminal from all floors in the City
Center parking garage. Presently 19 express routes and one local bus route use this terminal.

60 East Broad Street in downtown Columbus houses the COTA Connection. The COTA
Connection is the main customer service center as well as sales outlet for day, seven-day, and
monthly passes. At this location, passengers may also obtain Senior Discount Cards, Key Cards
and ADA Cards. The office provides route information through the distribution of published transit
maps and timetables, and maintains a staff of service representatives (from 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m.
weekdays) as well as an interactive voice response system to assist customer queries on the
Authority’s telephone information line (614-228-1776). COTA’s Customer Service Department call
center is operated from this location.

ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK

Franklin County (the Authority's primary service area) is located in the central part of Ohio, and the
City of Columbus (Ohio’s largest city and the state capital) is located within its boundaries. The
Columbus Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) consists of eight counties: Delaware, Fairfield,
Franklin, Licking, Madison, Morrow, Pickaway and Union. Based on data from the U.S. Census
Bureau, this combined area's population is 1,725,570, with Franklin County's population of
1,095,662 making it the MSA'’s largest county in terms of population.

Franklin County is served by diverse transportation modes. Interstate Highway [-270
forms an Outerbelt surrounding Columbus, while Interstate Highways 1-70 and I-71
intersect in the center of the county. Interstate Highway 1-670 connects |-70 on the west
side of Columbus with Port Columbus International Airport on the east side of the city.
Four U.S. highways and 13 state highways are also located in the county. The major
airport authority is the Columbus Regional Airport Authority comprising two large airports,
an international airport and separate air-freight/cargo facility. Two small municipal airports
also serve general and light aviation. Although growth slowed during the recession that
occurred in the first half of this decade, Franklin County experienced rapid growth during
the decade of the 1990's. Further commercial, office and residential development is
occurring in northeastern Franklin County (Easton), northern Columbus (Polaris),
southeastern Franklin County (Rickenbacker International Airport, multimodal facilities and
industrial parks), and in the downtown and near downtown areas (primarily in the Arena
District and Short North neighborhoods).
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Population

Population in the Authority’s primary service area since 1960 has been as follows:

Franklin
Year Columbus County
1960 471,316 682,923
1970 540,025 833,249
1980 565,032 869,126
1990 632,910 961,437
2000 711,470 1,068,978

Source: U.S. Census Bureau
Employment
The following table shows average employment in Franklin County, and comparative

unemployment statistics for Franklin County, the State of Ohio and the United States for the last
five years:

Average Average Unemployment Rate
Labor Force Franklin
Year in Franklin County County Ohio u.s.
2003 601,000 4.9% 6.1% 6.0%
2004 603,900 5.4% 6.1% 5.5%
2005 604,400 5.3% 5.9% 5.1%
2006 609,700 4.7% 5.5% 4.6%
2007 618,800 4.7% 5.6% 4.6%

Source: Ohio Department of Job and Family Services
Housing and Building Permits

According to U.S. Bureau of Census figures, the median value in 2000 of owner-occupied homes
in Franklin County was $116,200, compared with $103,700 for urban housing in Ohio and
$119,600 in the United States. Between 1990 and 2000, the number of housing units in Franklin
County increased 16.2%, from 405,418 to 471,016.

Economic Outlook

Columbus is the most populous city in Ohio and the only major municipality in the state
experiencing population growth. Central Ohio enjoys a broad-based economy, in which no single
industry dominates. The County’s largest employers represent government, education, finance,
retail trade, health care and manufacturing. The diversity of the key business sectors helps to
insulate the region from many of the economic fluctuations experienced elsewhere. The economic
climate of Franklin County directly affects COTA due to the reliance on sales and use tax receipts
as the Authority's major source of revenue. Population growth is expected to continue into the
future, with the MSA population projected to exceed 1.8 million by the year 2010.
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2008 GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

In November 2006, voters approved a 10-year renewable % percent sales tax levy (in addition to
the permanent % percent sales and use tax) to implement the LRTP. The Authority will begin
receiving revenue from the renewable sales tax in April 2008. In early 2007, COTA developed a
Short-Range Transit Plan (SRTP) that describes planned service improvements for the first five
years of the LRTP, which identifies capital projects to support the planned service improvements,
and summarizes COTA'’s financial plan for the next five years. During 2007, the Authority made
service improvements, and embarked on capital projects in support of the service improvements, in
accordance with both the SRTP and LRTP.

For 2008, COTA intends to aggressively pursue implementation of its Long-Range Transit Plan
which includes the four components below:

Fixed-Route Bus Service - The LRTP’s goal to provide safe, reliable, and convenient
transportation includes adding 20,000 annualized service hours 3 times each year, acquiring 40
new fixed route coaches (additional and replacement) annually, and hiring and training new bus
operators to meet the plan’s service goals and the increased demand for transit service. COTA will
also begin assessing the service the authority provides in depth. This includes examining the
geographical coverage of bus routes and the hours of service including the frequency of local,
crosstown, circulator and express route bus service. This ongoing analysis will allow COTA to
consider fixed route variations to allow greater convenience and flexibility to customers.

Paratransit Bus Service — COTA is analyzing service options for Project Mainstream, the demand
response service to meet the needs of riders under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). In
addition, COTA is exploring the possibility of expanding partnerships with community organizations
to provide better demand response services for specific communities.

Intelligent Transportation Systems — COTA is considering technologies to improve customer
service, quality of service and efficiency including real-time bus arrival information at busy bus
stops.

Strategic Investments — COTA will identify and analyze corridors where future fixed guideway
transit modes, such as bus rapid transit, streetcar, light rail transit, or commuter rail could
complement fixed-route bus service and form the basis of a comprehensive regional transportation
network.
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Other Initiatives

Also in 2008, COTA will complete the Franklin County Transportation Coordination Plan to
determine how existing transportation services could be better coordinated and how new funding
and other resources should be used to improve transportation services in a coordinated fashion. In
addition, this plan is intended to satisfy the requirements of a Coordinated Public Transit-Human
Services Transportation Plan as laid out in federal law. By meeting these requirements, the plan
will give Franklin County entities access to federal funds that can be used for the following
transportation purposes:

Access to jobs for low-income individuals (Job Access Reverse Commute, or JARC)

« Vehicles or other equipment for transporting seniors or people with disabilities (Specialized
Transportation)

¢ New transportation services for people with disabilities (New Freedom).

The Coordinated Plan is being developed through a partnership of public and private entities with
extensive data collection from transportation funders, providers and users. The Mid-Ohio Regional
Planning Commission (MORPC) serves as the lead planning agency, providing direction and staff
support to the effort. COTA is the fiscal agent responsible for handling and reporting on the federal
funds being used to develop the plan.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Internal Control Structure

The management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control
structure designed to ensure that the Authority’'s assets are protected from loss, theft or misuse.
Management's responsibility is also to ensure that accurate accounting data is compiled to allow
for the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles.

In developing and evaluating the Authority’s accounting system, emphasis is placed on the
adequacy of internal controls. Internal accounting controls are designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance regarding the reliability of financial records used to prepare financial
statements, and the protection of assets against loss from unauthorized use or disposition. The
concept of “reasonable assurance” recognizes that the cost of the control should not exceed the
benefits likely to be derived, and that the evaluation of costs and benefits requires estimates and
judgments by management.

All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework. Management believes that the
Authority's internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable
assurance that financial transactions are properly recorded. Management also believes that the
data in this CAFR, as presented, is accurate in all material respects, that it presents fairly the
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Authority, and that all disclosures
necessary to enable the reader to gain the maximum understanding of the Authority’s financial
affairs have been included.
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Basis of Accounting

The Authority’s financial records are maintained on the accrual basis of accounting. The activities
are accounted for in a single enterprise (proprietary-type) fund. Additional information on the
Authority’'s accounting policies can be found in Note 2 in the Notes to the Financial Statements
located on pages 37-42.

Budgetary Controls

The annual accrual basis operating and capital budgets are proposed by the Authority’s
management and adopted by the Board of Trustees in a public meeting usually held in the month
preceding a new fiscal year. The annual budget is prepared using overall guidelines established
after consideration of the Authority’s long-range financial plan. This plan, updated annually,
projects revenue sources over the next 10 years and establishes service levels and growth
commensurate with such revenue limits.

Management control for the budget is maintained by not permitting total expenditures to exceed
total appropriations without approval of the Board of Trustees. It is the responsibility of each
department to administer its operations in such a manner as to ensure that the use of funds is
consistent with the goals and programs authorized by the Board of Trustees. Financial statements
prepared on a budgetary basis in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have
been provided on page 53 to demonstrate budgetary compliance.

Retirement Plans

Full-time, permanent employees (current or retired) of the Authority are covered under the Ohio
Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS), a statewide public retirement (including disability
retirement) system.

Employees covered by OPERS contribute for the year 2007 at a statutory rate of 9.5% of earnable
salary or compensation, and the Authority contributes 13.85% of the same base. These
contribution rates are actuarially determined and statutorily mandated.

The Authority has a “pickup” (assume and pay) program with respect to all of the statutorily
required contributions of the employees covered by OPERS. These “pickups” defer the employees’
federal and state income taxes on those contributions at no extra cost to the Authority. OPERS is
not subject to the funding and vesting requirements of the federal Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974.

OPERS was created by, and operates pursuant to, the Ohio Revised Code. The Ohio General
Assembly could decide to amend the format of OPERS and could revise rates or methods of
contributions to be made by the Authority into the pension fund and revise benefits or benefit
levels.

Federal law requires Authority employees hired after March 31, 1986 to participate in the federal
Medicare program, which requires matching employer and employee contributions, each being
1.45% of taxable wages. Otherwise, Authority employees are not currently covered under the
federal Social Security Act.

10
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Debt Administration

Only capital projects are eligible for debt financing under the Ohio Revised Code. Management
believes that existing cash and investment balances and projected cash flows of the Authority are
adequate to cover future operating costs. As of December 31, 2007, the maximum annual debt
service charges permitted by law for new, unvoted debt issuance was $28.3 million. However, the
Authority currently intends to fund capital improvements through federal grants, state grants, and
local sales tax revenues.

Cash Management and Investments

The Authority utilizes a cash management and investment policy intended to maximize financial
return while minimizing risk of loss. Cash balances are invested at the best interest rates available
in the money markets within the constraints imposed by the investment policy of the Authority and
the Ohio Revised Code. In accordance with these provisions, only banks located in Ohio and
domestic building and loan associations are eligible to hold public deposits. These provisions also
permit the Authority to invest its funds in certificates of deposit, savings accounts, money market
accounts, the State Treasurer's Investment Pool (STAR OHIO), obligations of the United States
government or certain agencies thereof. The Authority may also enter into repurchase agreements
with any eligible depository for a period not exceeding 30 days. Otherwise, investments in
“derivatives” are forbidden.

As defined by the criteria developed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, most of
the Authority’'s deposits are either uncollateralized, or are collateralized by securities held by the
pledging financial institutions’ trust department or agent (but not in the Authority's name). The
Authority’s deposits are, however, secured in compliance with the Ohio Revised Code. Because
the Authority’s deposits are held by large, financially sound banks, management believes that the
security supporting the Authority’s deposits is adequate.

Effective January 1, 1998, the Authority adopted GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and External Investment Pools. Pursuant to
Statement No. 31, at December 31, 2006, investments are carried at fair value, which is based on
quoted market prices. Any unrealized gains or losses are recognized as adjustments to
investment income. The Authority’s policy is to hold investment securities to their scheduled
maturity date.

Risk Management

The Authority is self-insured for public liability and property damage claims. Claims are normally
paid with the operating revenues of the Authority. The Authority, by resolution of the Board of
Trustees, designated assets in fiscal year 1987 to accumulate funds to satisfy catastrophic or
extraordinary losses. The designated assets for self-insurance as of December 31, 2007, were
approximately $11.4 million.

The Authority is under contract with an insurance carrier who provides fully-insured group
coverage for employee general health and hospitalization benefits. Blanket insurance coverage is
maintained for property and equipment. In addition, the Authority has insurance to protect against
internal losses.

11
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Prior to June 30, 1998, COTA was insured through the State of Ohio Bureau of Workers'
Compensation (BWC) for injuries to its employees. On July 1, 1998, the Authority entered into an
agreement with the BWC to become self-insured for claims pertaining to work-related injuries to
Authority employees occurring on or after that date. The BWC agreed to continue to administer
and pay all compensation claims arising on or before June 30, 1998. The estimated liability for all
such claims occurring since July 1, 1998, was $660,998 at December 31, 2007, and is included as
a liability in the accompanying balance sheet.

OTHER INFORMATION
Independent Audit

The Authority’s independent certified public accounting firm of Deloitte & Touche LLP has rendered
an unqualified audit report on the Authority’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007. This report is included in the financial section of this CAFR.

The Authority also participates in the federal single audit program, which consists of a single audit
of all federally funded programs administered by the Authority. As a requirement for continued
funding eligibility, participation in the single audit program is mandatory for most local
governments, including the Authority. The single audit performed by Deloitte & Touche LLP met
the requirements set forth by the State of Ohio and the federal Single Audit Act of 1984 (including
the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996) and related Office of Management and Budget Circular
A-133 (Revised).

It is the intention of the Authority’s management to submit this and future CAFRs for review under
the GFOA's “Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting” program.
Management believes the current report conforms to the program requirements, and expects that
participation will result in continued improvement in the Authority’s financial reporting in future
years.

12
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Board of Trustees

Central Ohio Transit Authority

and Mary Taylor, Auditor of the State of Ohio
Columbus, Ohio

We have audited the balance sheets of Central Ohio Transit Authority (the “*Authority”) as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, and the related statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets and cash flows for the years
then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Authority. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits,

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Authority as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the changes in net assets and cash flows for the vears then ended
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 19-29 is not a required part of the basic financial statements but is
supplementary information required by Governmental Accounting Standards Board. This supplementary
information is the responsibility of the Authority’s management. We have applied certain limited procedures, which
consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the
supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements of the Authority taken
as a whole. The supplemental schedule listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis
and is not a required part of the financial statements of the Authority. The supplemental schedule is also the
responsibility of Authority’s management. The supplemental schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the financial statements and. in our opinion, is fairly presented. in all material respects, in
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

The statistical data presented on pages 53—73 is presented for the purpose of additional analysis and is not a required
part of the financial statements of the Authority. The statistical data is the responsibility of Authority management.
Such additional information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the financial
statements, and accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

D Litts T Towede LLA

June 20, 2008

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As the management of the Central Ohio Transit Authority (the Authority or COTA), we offer readers
of the Authority’s basic financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial
activities of the Authority for the year ended December 31, 2007. This discussion and analysis is
designed to assist the reader in focusing on significant financial issues and activities and identifying
any significant changes in financial position. We encourage readers to consider the information
presented here, in conjunction with the basic financial statements and notes to the financial
statements, which follows this section and provides more specific detail.

Overview of Financial Highlights

The Authority has net assets of $99.8 million. These net assets result from the difference
between total assets of $110.4 million and total liabilities of $10.6 million.

The Authority’s net assets increased by $6.9 million in 2007 mainly due to an increase in
Federal and State grant funding of $6 million. The Authority’s net assets decreased by
$15.3 million in 2006 mainly due to impairment of the North Corridor Project and the transfer
of certain revenue vehicles to another transit system.

Current assets of $35.2 million primarily consist of non-board designated cash and cash
equivalents of $13.1 million; sales tax receivables of $13.1 million, inventory of $2.8 million,
and Board designated assets of $3.8 million.

Current liabilities of $9.8 million primarily consist of accrued payroll and fringe benefits of
$4.9 million, and accounts payable of $1.9 million.

The Authority has no long-term debt.

Basic Financial Statements and Presentation

The financial statements presented by the Authority are the Balance Sheets, the Statements
of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets and the Statements of Cash Flows.
These statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. The Authority is structured as a single enterprise fund with
revenues recognized when earned and measurable, not when received. Expenses are
recognized when they are incurred, not when paid. Capital assets are capitalized and
depreciated, except land, over their estimated useful lives.

The Balance Sheets present information on all of the Authority’s assets and liabilities, with
the difference between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases and decreases
in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the
Authority is improving or deteriorating. Net assets decrease when expenses exceed
revenues. A decrease in assets without a corresponding decrease to liabilities results in
decreased net assets, which indicate a deteriorated financial position.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2007

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets, on page 33, presents
information showing how the Authority’s net assets changed during the year. This
statement summarizes operating revenues and expenses along with non-operating
revenues and expenses. In addition, this statement lists capital grant revenues received
from federal and state governments.

The Statements of Cash Flows on pages 34-35 allow financial statement users to assess
the Authority’'s adequacy or ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet its obligations in
a timely manner. The statements are classified into four categories: 1) cash flows from
operating activities, 2) cash flows from non-capital financing activities, 3) cash flows from
capital and related financing activities, and 4) cash flows from investing activities.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the financial statements. The notes to the financial
statements can be found on pages 36-52.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Central Ohio Transit
Authority’s financial status and performance. Questions concerning any of the information
provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to:

Office of Chief Financial Officer
Central Ohio Transit Authority
1600 McKinley Avenue
Columbus, OH 43222-1093
www.COTA.com
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Financial Analysis of the Authority

Condensed Summary of Net Assets

The Authority’s comparative analysis of the condensed summary of Net Assets is as follows:

Description 2007 2006 2005
Assets
Current Assets 31,342,953 $ 29,145,271 $ 23,905,364
Board Designated Assets (current) 3,822,846 3,401,490 1,969,885
Restricted Assets (current) - - 649 631
Total Current Assets 35,165,799 32,546,761 26,524,880
Board Designated Assets (non-current) 10,584,131 10,597,104 11,535,204
Capital Assets (net of accumulated
depreciation) 64,712,680 61,349,114 82,895,537
Total Non-Current Assets 75,296,811 71,946,218 94 430,741
Total Assets 110,462,610 104,492,979 120,955,621
Liabilities
Current Liabilities 9,756,679 10,760,880 11,600,596
Non-Current Liabilities 888,572 766,456 1,134,144
Total Liabilities 10,645,251 11,527,336 12,734,740
Net Assets
Net Assets Invested in Capital Assets 64,712,680 61,349,114 82,895,537
Net Assets Restricted for Capital Assets - - 649,631
Net Assets Unrestricted 35,104,679 31,616,529 24 675,713
Total Net Assets $ 99,817,359 $ 92965643 $ 108,220,881

Most of the Authority’s net assets reflect investment in capital assets such as buses, maintenance
equipment, and operating facilities. The Authority uses these capital assets to provide public
transportation services for Franklin County and portions of the cities of Columbus, Reynoldsburg,
and Westerville that are located in counties adjacent to Franklin County. The Authority’s investment
in capital assets as of December 31, 2007 amounts to $64.7 million (net of accumulated
depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements,
revenue vehicles, transit centers, other equipment, and construction in progress. The total increase
in COTA's investment in capital assets for 2007 was $3.4 million.
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Major capital asset events during 2007 included the following:
e Purchase of (32) heavy duty transit buses
e Purchase of (12) paratransit buses
e Completion of the final phase of the roof replacement at 1600 McKinley Avenue Facility

Contributions to construction in progress including the following projects:

* Beginning phase of New Paratransit Facility Project
¢ Beginning phase of ITS Project for CAD/AVL System

Additional information on the Authority’s capital assets can be found in Note 4 in the Notes to the
Financial Statements located on pages 45-46.

The Authority’s current assets at the end of 2007 are composed of cash and cash equivalents
(42%), receivables (48%), inventory (9%), and other assets (1%) consisting predominately of
prepaid expenses.

Expenses by Functional Category

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets are presented on the next
page with explanations and analysis following. The Authority’s expenses, excluding depreciation,
can also be classified by functional category as defined by the Authority's National Transit
Database Report (NTDR) and summarized in the following table:

EXPENSES BY FUNCTION (Excluding Depreciation)

Description 2007 2006 2005
Transportation $ 39,534,403 $ 38,352,438 $ 42,942 412
Vehicle Maintenance 12,557,009 12,050,062 12,768,801
Facilities Maintenance 4,073,816 3,848,133 4,375,327
General & Administrative 13,616,182 13,469,858 13,752,089

Total $ 69,781,410 $ 67,720,491 $ 73,838,629

In accordance with NTDR guidelines, the 2007, 2006 and 2005 expenses include additional costs of
$34,751, $29,132 and $25,908 respectively, collected directly by the service provider from the
Authority’s customers for the Sedan Voucher Service for disabled passengers.
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Condensed Summary of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets:

Description 2007 2006 2005
Operating Revenues
Passenger Fare Revenues 12,666,006 12,816,845 $ 11,404,545
Special Services Revenue 390,960 359,886 337,661
Other: Auxiliary Transportation Revenues 237,929 243,138 371,971
Total Operating Revenues 13,294,895 13,419,869 12,114 177
Non-Operating Revenues
Sales Tax Revenues 47,615,932 47,007,395 44 821,588
Federal Assistance 11,479,652 10,866,698 11,055,758
State Assistance 1,416,616 1,455,882 1,184,646
Investment Income 1,176,901 1,008,101 649,640
Non-transportation and Other Revenues 748,242 549,046 538,547
Total Non-Operating Revenues 62,437,343 60,887,122 58,250,179
Total Revenue before Capital Grants 75,732,238 74,306,991 70,364,356
Operating Expenses
Labor 28,498,141 27,522,282 31,829,043
Fringe Benefits 18,334,414 18,476,176 21,155,637
Materials and Supplies 10,085,202 9,236,317 8,588,212
Purchased Transportation 5,015,657 4,608,078 4,530,514
Services 4,096,126 3,737,526 3,722,092
Other Expenses 3,737,395 4,110,980 3,987,223
Operating Expenses before Depreciation 69,766,935 67,691,359 73,812,721
Depreciation Expense 8,227,145 8,564,858 9,114,603
Total Operating Expenses 77,994,080 76,256,217 82,927,324
Loss before Capital Grants and Special Item (2,261,842) (1,949,226) (12,562,968)
Capital Grant Revenues:
Federal 7,923,838 3,215,213 6,302,087
State 2,136,637 1,608,175 2,783,162
Other - 7,156 B
Total Capital Grant Revenues 10,060,475 4,830,544 9,085,249
Special Item: Loss on Transfer of Assets - (665,492) (2,392,547)
Special Item: Loss on Project Impairment (946,917) (17.471,064) -
Total Special Item (946,917) (18,136,556) (2,392,547)
Change in Net Assets during the Year 6,851,716 (15,255,238) (5,870,266)
Net Assets, Beginning of Year 92,965,643 108,220,881 114,091,147
Net Assets, End of Year 99,817,359 92,965,643 $ 108,220,881
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Revenues by Source
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Expense by Object Class
(Excluding Depreciation)

2007 Total Expenses Other
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59%

Fringe Benefits
28.7%

Purchased Supplies & Materials
Transportation 14.4%
7.2%

2006 Total Expenses

$67,691,359 Services
Labor 5.5%
40.7%

L Fringe Benefits
Purchased 28.7%

Transportation

6.8%

Supplies & Materials
13.6%

25




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Financial Operating Results

Revenues

For purposes of this presentation, the Authority groups its operating revenues into the following
categories:

Passenger Fares are comprised of farebox revenues and special services revenues. The slight
decrease in 2007 is due to flat ridership in comparison to 2006. The 2006 increase from 2005 is
attributed to a fare increase in January 2006.

Sales Tax Revenues are received from a permanent %% sales tax levy approved by voters in
November 1999 and applicable to the Authority’s service area. The minimal 1.3% increase in sales
tax revenue in 2007 is mainly due to limited economic growth in the Frankiin County area. The
increase of 4.8% in 2006 from 2005 is due in part to a one-time state sales tax amnesty program.
The 2005 sales tax revenue was down due to slowing economic growth in COTA's taxing district.

Federal Assistance is received from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) for general operating
expenses and capital programs. With the passage of the Transportation Equity Act of the 21%
Century (TEA-21), regional transit authorities were given the latitude to use their Section 5307
Federal Formula Assistance on the capitalization of maintenance instead of the purchase of capital
assets. The Authority has elected to use its Section 5307 funds on vehicle maintenance, permitting
the full use of this allocation each year, and freeing local funds for future capital projects. In 2007,
the total allocation to all public transit agencies for Section 5307 funds as designated by Congress
was increased, which in turn increased the amount designated for COTA. The decrease in Federal
Assistance in 2006 was due to a reduction in TEA-21 due to funding requirements for Katrina
recovery efforts. The increase in Federal Assistance in 2005 was due to an increase in funding the
total allocation to all public transit agencies for Section 5307 funds by the Federal government.

Federal Capital Grants are received from the FTA for capital projects and capital acquisitions.
Federal Capital Grants reimburse the Authority in part for the purchase of new buses, equipment
and facility enhancements. The increase in Federal Capital Grants in 2007 is mainly due to the
purchase of 32 heavy duty transit buses. The reduction in Federal Capital Grants in 2006 is due to
the discontinued North Corridor Light Rail Project. The reduction in Federal Capital Grants in 2005
is due to the completion of the Easton Daycare Center and the Near East Transit Center
construction projects and a decrease in funding for the North Corridor Light-Rail project.

State Assistance is received from the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) for elderly and
disabled rider reduced-fare subsidies, and for reimbursement of State fuel taxes. COTA is required
to remit State taxes on diesel fuel, but is refunded $0.27 of the $0.28 per gallon paid. The elderly
and disabled rider reduced-fare subsidies amount for the entire program increased for 2007;
however, because of changes in fare structures at other transit agencies within the state of Ohio,
the amount allocated to COTA was down slightly over 2006. The increase for State Assistance in
2006 and 2005 was due primarily to an increase in overall elderly and disabled passenger fare
assistance program.
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State Capital Grants are received from ODOT for capital projects and capital acquisitions. State
Capital Grants reimburse the Authority in part for the purchase of new buses and equipment. In
2007, the increase in State Capital Grant funding was predominantly used towards the purchase of
32 heavy duty transit buses. The decrease in State Capital Grants in 2006 was due to the
discontinuation of the North Corridor Light Rail Project. The increase in State Capital Grants in
2005 was for reimbursement for the construction of the Easton Daycare Center, the implementation
of the annunciator and automatic passenger counter projects, and the purchase of buses. In 2005,
the increase is also attributable to reimbursement for the construction of the Near East Transit
Center.

Investment Income is earned on invested funds. In 2007, the investment income is higher due to
higher cash balances. The 2006 and 2005 investment income is significantly higher due to higher
investment rates and higher cash balances.

Non-Transportation and Other Revenues consist of auxiliary transportation revenues and non-
transportation revenues. Auxiliary transportation revenues represent fees collected for advertising
placed in and on buses and bus shelters. From 2006 to 2007, the Authority experienced declining
sales related to advertising on the outside of the buses, and therefore made a decision in late 2007
to discontinue this program going forward. Non-transportation revenues include other
miscellaneous income items such as rent income which increased in 2007 over 2006 and 2005 due
to full occupancy in COTA’'s Near East transit center and Easton Daycare. Non-transportation
revenue also includes a gain on sale of fixed assets in 2007.

Expenses

Labor comprises nearly half of the total Authority expenses and includes hourly wages paid to
union-represented employees (bus operators, mechanics and facility maintenance personnel), and
salaries and wages paid to administrative staff (clerical, supervisory and management personnel).
The 2007 labor increase of 3.5% was driven by contractual increases for the represented
employees and merit increase for administrative employees. In 2006, reductions in service coupled
with improved efficiency resulted in a 14% reduction in labor cost. During May 2005, COTA
eliminated fifteen administrative positions as part of a reorganization of the Authority’s
administrative departments, thereby reducing labor expense.

Fringe Benefits consist primarily of vacation, sick and holiday pay, required Authority contributions
to the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS), and employee medical benefits.
Required employer contributions to OPERS were made at the rate of 13.85% of total gross taxable
wages.

In 2007, fringe benefit expense was relatively unchanged due to a modest increase in premiums
offset by increased employee cost sharing. In 2006, fringe benefit expense was reduced by nearly
13% through a corresponding reduction in direct payroll costs and no growth in medical premiums.
The increase in fringe benefits in 2005 is due to rising medical insurance costs and an increase in
Workers’ Compensation expense caused by a significant adjustment to the liability reserve to
recognize future liabilities.
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Materials and Supplies include the Authority’'s diesel fuel expense and parts used in the
maintenance of buses and facilities. Similar to 2007, the authority was hard hit in the area of
materials and supplies due to the increasing price of diesel fuel and the maintenance costs
associated with an aging bus fleet with an average bus age over 8 years. In 2006, materials and
supplies increased 7.5% from 2005 due to an increased fuel price per gallon of 21.4% and the
impact of maintaining an aging bus fleet. The primary factor for the 2005 increase in expenses is a
44.2% increase in the average price per gallon of diesel fuel along with a slight increase in fuel
consumption of approximately 36,000 gallons. Another factor that also increased expenses was the
write-off of the ABI bus parts inventory.

Purchased Transportation expense is comprised of amounts paid to a private local contractor to
provide the Authority's Project Mainstream service (door-to-door, service-on-demand in wheelchair
lift-equipped minibuses for disabled riders). In 2007, COTA saw a significant increase in purchased
transportation expense of 8.8%. This increase is a direct result of the increase in ridership of 7.9%
over 2006. In 2006, purchased transportation expense increased by 1.7% over 2005 but was
driven by an increase in ridership of 2.9%. For 2005, the total Project Mainstream ridership was
only a slight increase of less than 1% as a result of challenges with scheduling that led to
decreased productivity.

Services are provided by outside contractors to the Authority for a wide variety of professional,
technical, consulting and maintenance needs. Services increased in 2007 by 9.6% as a result of
increase subcontracting activity in the facility support area. These costs remained fairly constant
from 2005 to 2006 with just a .4% increase.

Other Expenses consist primarily of utilities, taxes, interest, leases and rentals, claims and
insurance and other miscellaneous expenses. In 2007, there was a decrease in other expenses of
9%. In 2006, other expenses increased 3% over 2005 primarily due to increase self-insurance
claims from increased liability reserves. Real estate taxes are paid on non-exempt Authority
property which includes transit center rental facilities and are partially reimbursed by the tenants. In
2005 and 2006 leases and rental expense included the downtown COTA Connection customer
service center, the COTA Business Development Division office on Lake Shore Drive, the Project
Mainstream paratransit offices on Phillipi Road, certain park-and-ride facilities, and miscellaneous
equipment. Both the Lakeshore and Phillipi Road leases were terminated in 2006 and the Project
Mainstream paratransit offices were moved to a COTA owned facility at Fields Avenue thereby
eliminating leasing expense for these locations in 2007.
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Analysis of 2007 Financial Results

COTA'’s financial results for the year ending 2007, demonstrate a dramatically improved financial
condition. Despite recent market volatility resulting in dramatic increases in fuel costs as well as a
challenging economic environment, both locally and nationally, the Authority has a balanced budget
and a strong financial position. COTA ended the year with a $6.9 million increase in net assets. In
2006, management successfully undertook a series of arduous, yet prudent, measures to balance
the budget and bring financial stability back to the Authority. The improved financial position
permitted management to take advantage of additional Federal and State grant programs, resuiting
in a 108% increase in Federal and State capital revenue over 2006. This additional revenue
coupled with an increase in sales and use tax of 4.8%, resulted in an operating surplus of $15
million (excluding depreciation) for the year, signaling a spirited turnaround and a robust financial
position as we embark on a period of significant growth.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Balance Sheets
December 31, 2007 and 2006

ASSETS 2007 2006
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cashand cash equivalentS ..oy 13,117,239 $ 12,278,782
Receivables:
TR e 13,107,164 12,735,719
Federal capital grants receivable...............cccocooiiiiiiiennnn, 317,914 73,262
Federal operating assistance................cooooviiiiiiiiinn. 397,302 44 218
State capital grants receivable......................coii 118,702 216,182
OB 1,082,518 444 973
Inventory of materials and supplies............ccccoiiiiiiiiiieeiiians. 2,751,701 2,327,942
L {1 = 450,413 1,024,193
Total 31,342,953 29,145,271
Board designated:
Cash and cash equivalents - capital grants...................... 3,010,236 1,625,585
Cash and cash equivalents - self insurance..................... 812,610 1,775,905
TOtaL 3,822,846 3,401,490
T Ot COMBRE ASSEES. . cox cancimnisssmirasrisnsas e s e e bas 35,165,799 32,546,761
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Board designated:
Cash and cash equivalents - self insurance..................... 10,584,131 10,597,104
Property and equipment
B OB st B s s e S e S 164,053,873 157,555,256
Less accumulated depreciation...................... (99,341,193) (96,206,142)
ROMRE s s R s i 64,712,680 61,349,114
Total non-current a@ssets............ccoviiiiiiiiiiiiien s 75,296,811 71,946,218
TOTAL ASSET S i icisosimvaiss sovmistisissaastissasssidsadasioiins 110,462,610 $ 104,492,979
See notes to financial statements. (continued)
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Balance Sheets (continued)
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LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 2007 2006
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accrued payroll and fringe benefits..............ccocviiiiiiiiin 4,947 709 4,841,938
Accounts payable. ... 1,916,258 2,187,297
Accrued payroll taXES........c.ocueeiiriiiie i 620,771 612,342
Estimated workers compensation claims...............ocoovieeen. 429,513 483,454
Estimated claims payable ...............cccooiiiiiiii i 383,097 1,292,451
Othercument Habiliies............c.animmmimrsasiimimsssie i 1,459,331 1,343,398
Total current liabilitites. ... 9,756,679 10,760,880
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accriied fringe benefits ... miiniiii 508,697 409,675
Deferred revenue lease property...........occoveiieiiiiiiiiieeeii. 23,140 37,024
Estimated workers compensation claims......................oo 231,485 210,907
Estimated claims payable::..unmmamanninuan snisiisi 125,250 108,850
Total non-current liabilitites. .............ccoovicviiiiiiciiiiiccenn 888,572 766,456
TOTAL LIABILITIES. ..o 10,645,251 11,527,336
NET ASSETS:
Invested in capital assets..................coociiiiiiiiii 64,712,680 61,349,114
Unrestricted. .. ... ..o 35,104,679 31,616,529
TOTALNET ASSETS ...t 99,817,359 92,965,643
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS.......coooiiiiiiiin. 110,462,610 104,492,979
See notes to financial statements. (coritinued)
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Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets

Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

2007 2006
OPERATING REVENUES:
Passenger fares for transit Service...............cooooocioiiii 12,666,006 12,816,845
Special transit fares.... SRR 390,960 359,886
Auxiliary transportatlon revenue.. . 237,929 243,138
LI | USROS 13,294,895 13,419,869
OPERATING EXPENSES OTHER THAN DEPRECIATION:
L= o To T TSRS 28,498,141 27,522,282
Frnge DOnES.....ounumumcssimmmsasmmsmsssssainssassonsisisssssomssensnrs 18,334,414 18,476,176
MEterials ant SUPPHEE ..o mvnmemuimsssmmimmmummesim i e ssssiseeissass 10,085,202 9,236,317
Purchased transportation...............ccccoiiiviiieiiiiiiicseecee s 5,015,657 4,608,078
DEIVICOS oo e S S o S SR e S Ui 4,096,126 3,737,526
Utilities... 1,501,736 1,435,646
Taxes... : 766,222 726,764
Leases and rentals 208,838 359,145
Claims and insurance, net of seﬁlements 674,845 1,117,833
Advemsmg 99,638 122,695
MISCRIIANBOUS... .. ..ooneremmsbsns s sine sromeimmiassiis e s e ddess 486,116 348,897
T8l G R T e S 69,766,935 67,691,359
BEPRECIATION ;v cvss s s s vt s stam st sy s siins 8,227,145 8,564,858
Total operating eXPeNSES. ..........ccoevviiiiiiiiieeiiee e siaee e 77,994,080 76,256,217
OPERATING LOSS ... oot e e et (64,699,185) (62,836,348)
NON-OPERATING REVENUES:
Sales tax revenues.. 47,615,932 47,007,385
Federal operating grants and relmbursements 11,479,652 10,866,698
State operating grants, reimbursements and
special fare assistance ......aiaiisiiiiinasiiaiiaiii 1,416,616 1,455,882
Investment income.. 1,176,901 1,008,101
Nontransportation and other revenue.. 748,242 549,046
TORAL.......connennmesmmannsesnesmnsrsermssssssssssiuissma b e TS 62,437,343 60,887,122
Loss before capital grants & special item......................ooooii (2,261,842) (1,949,226)
CAPITAL GRANT REVENUES:
FEAETA] - v csmmasssms ssnnss ssasasss mansssbensvanss dte SRby v St s A m e ke 7.923,838 3,215,213
SRS o cicnsmanissinsnmwis soms S e SRS S S AT i S S o 2,136,637 1,608,175
DHOT s mis it 3 e VA ST o o VRS A R SR A RIS - 7,156
Total 10,060,475 4,830,544
SPECIAL ITEM -
Lossontransferof assets..........cooovvieiiiiii i - (665,492)
Loss on project impairment.............ooveeetivnein e eeeeee e (946,917) (17,471,064)
Total (946,917) (18,136,556)
CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 6,851,716 (15,255,238)
NET ASSETS,; BEGINNING OF YEAR......icccivvriisiiinmiasiaminisisiinsisin. 92,965,643 108,220,881
NET ASSETS; END OF YEAR ...svnininsmmiicvasiws o s aes 99,817,359 92,965,643
See notes to financial statements.
(continued)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

2007 2006
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received from cUStOMErs............ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e, $ 13,056,965 $ 13,176,731
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services......................... (22,378,551) (23,625,579)
Cash payments to employees for services. ... (28,300,882) (27,706,365)
Cash payments for employees benefits................ccccoiiiiiiiiiinin, (18,360,243) (18,527,440)
Cash payments for casualty and liability..............ccccooiiiiiiiiins (1,513,709) (246,177)
ONET TECEIPES. ..ottt e e e e e 348,626 1,225,486
Net cash used in operating activities.............coocoviiin. (57,147,794) (55,703,344)
CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
SACSEANESTEEBIVEY. . v ciirmmsinsissmimerrs b B g ersane 47 244 487 46,216,292
Federal operating assistance received................cocevvivicininiciccinens 11,126,568 10,822,480
State operating and other assistance received................cccccoeeis 1,416,616 1,455,882
Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities............ 59,787,671 58,494,654
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Federal capital grants received.............ocooooioiiiiiiiiie 7,679,186 3,648,294
State capital grants received. ... 2,234 117 1,542 437
Acquisition and construction of fixed assets..............ccccceniie. (12,546,371) (5,155,015)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets.............coooooi 63,130 -
Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing (2,569,938) 35,716
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest received from investments............... 1,176,901 1,008,101
Net cash provided by investing activities.............................. 1,176,901 1,008,101
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,246,840 3,835,127
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR................ 26,277,376 22,442 249
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR.......cccoviiiiiceiaee $ 27524216 $ 26,277,376
See notes to financial statements.
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2007 2006
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH
USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
OIPETEAHING LOSEL cvuime isemimimsamsssss ssmsssssassessuvasessmss npmossmssss $ (64,699,185) $ (62,836,348)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
DEPreCiation... ... .c.oeieie i e 8,227,145 8,564,858
Inventory obsolescence reserve adjustments........................ (163,456) (88,110)
DIOTEITED POV . s wimsmn s ssis v s 8 G S S 8 SR A i (13,884) (13,884)
Other receipls.....conmuiinicnanan s 748,242 549,046
Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in other receivables........................... (637,545) 433,302
Increase in materials and supplies inventory...................... (260,303) (502,077)
(Increase) decrease in otherassets................c.cooiiieiinns 573,780 (616,635)
Decrease in accounts payable, accrued
compensation, self-insurance liabilities and other............ (922,588) (1,193,496)
Net cash used in operating activities.............ccccoccveeienniin. $ (57,147,794) $ (55,703,344)
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH ACTIVITY
Property purchases in accounts payable $ 103,598 § 50,962

See notes to financial statements.




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

(1) Organization and Reporting Entity
Organization

The Central Ohio Transit Authority (COTA or the Authority) is an independent, special purpose
subdivision of the State of Ohio. The Authority was created on February 17, 1971, pursuant to
Sections 306.30 through 306.53 of the Ohio Revised Code for the purpose of providing public
transportation in Central Ohio, primarily Franklin County and surrounding areas. The Authority
commenced operations on January 1, 1974. As a political subdivision, the Authority is distinct
from, and is not an agency of, the State of Ohio or any other local government unit.

Under Ohio law, the Authority is authorized to levy a sales and use tax for transit purposes,
including both capital improvement and operating expenses, in 0.25% increments up to a
maximum rate of 1.5% if approved by a majority of the electors residing within the territorial
boundaries of the Authority. Such a sales and use tax is in addition to the sales and use taxes
levied by the State of Ohio and Franklin County. On November 5, 1999, the voters of Franklin
County approved a permanent 0.25% sales and use tax. On November 2, 2006, the voters of
Franklin County and surrounding counties within the COTA district approved a temporary 10 year
additional 0.25% sales and use tax.

The Authority also has the power, under Section 306.40 of the Ohio Revised Code, to levy and
collect both voted (after approval at an election) and unvoted ad valorem taxes on all the taxable
property within the territorial boundaries of the Authority, in order to pay debt service on its bonds
and notes issued in anticipation thereof. Ad valorem taxes were not levied during fiscal years
2007 and 2006.

The Authority is governed by a 13-member Board of Trustees. Members are appointed by the
mayors of COTA’s chartering municipal corporations and by the Franklin County Board of
Commissioners and serve overlapping 3-year terms.

The Authority is not subject to federal or state income taxes.

(continued)
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(2)

Reporting Entity

The accompanying financial statements comply with the provisions of the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity. This
statement requires that financial statements of the reporting entity include all of the organization,
activities, functions and component units for which the reporting entity is financially accountable.
Financial accountability is defined as the appointment of a voting majority of the component unit’s
board and either (1) the reporting entity’s ability to impose its will over the component unit, or (2)
the possibility that the component unit will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial
burden on the reporting entity. COTA does not have financial accountability over any entities.

The City of Columbus (the City) is a related organization to COTA as the Mayor of the City, with
the approval of City Council, appoints a voting majority of COTA’s Board. However, the financial
statements of COTA are not included within the City's “Reporting Entity” as the City cannot
impose its will and there is no financial benefit or financial burden relationship between the City
and COTA.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting,
whereby revenues and expenses are recognized in the period earned or incurred. All
transactions are accounted for in a single enterprise fund.

Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 20 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds
and Other Governmental Entities that Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, the Authority follows
GASB guidance as applicable to proprietary funds and Financial Accounting Standards Board
Statements and Interpretations, Accounting Principles Board Opinions and Accounting Research
Bulletins issues on or before November 30, 1989, that do not conflict with or contradict GASB
pronouncements. The Authority also has the option of following subsequent private-sector
guidance, subject to this same limitation. The Authority has elected not to follow subsequent
private-sector guidance as it relates to its operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Authority considers all highly liquid investments

with a maturity of three months or less when purchased and deposits in the State Treasurer’s
Asset Reserve investment pool (STAR Ohio) to be cash equivalents.

(continued)




CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Grant and Assistance

The federal government, through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), and the Ohio
Department of Transportation, (ODOT) provides financial assistance and makes grants directly to
the Authority for operations and the acquisition of property and equipment. Grants for operating
assistance and preventative maintenance are recorded as revenues during the entitlement period
to which the grants apply.

Investments

Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain
Investments and External Investment Pools, investments are carried at fair value based on
quoted market prices. Any unrealized gains or losses are recognized as adjustments to
investment income. The Authority’s policy is to hold investment securities to their scheduled
maturities.

Inventory of Materials and Supplies

Inventory items are stated at cost using the weighted average method. Inventory generally
consists of maintenance parts and supplies for transportation equipment and inventory items are
expensed when consumed.

Board Designated Assets

These assets are designated for the payment of public liability claims under the Authority’s self-
insurance program and for future capital expenditures.

Designated for Capital Grant Expenditures

These assets are restricted under the Authority’s capital grants for certain capital projects. The
Authority also includes in designated capital grant asset amounts relating to its local share
requirements for active capital grants.

Net Assets — Equity displayed in three components as follows:

Invested in capital assets. net of related debt — This consists of capital assets, net of

accumulated depreciation, less the outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvements of those assets.

Restricted — This consists of net assets that are legally restricted by outside parties or by law
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. When both restricted and unrestricted
resources are available for use, generally it is the Authority’s policy to use restricted resources
first, and then use unrestricted resources when they are needed.

Unrestricted — This consists of net assets that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or
“invested in capital assets, net of related debt”.

(continued)
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Classifications of Revenues

The Authority has classified its revenue as operating, non-operating or capital grant. Operating
revenue includes activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions including
passenger fares and advertising. Non-operating revenue includes activities that have the
characteristics of non-exchange transactions, such as sales tax proceeds and most federal,
state, or other reimbursement or donation for the acquisition of property and equipment.

Recognition of Revenue and Receivables

The federal government, through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and the Ohio
Department of Transportation (ODOT), provide financial assistance and make grants directly to
the Authority for operations and acquisition of property and equipment. Operating grants and
special fare assistance awards made on the basis of entitiement periods are recorded as grant
receivables and revenues over the entitlement periods. Capital grants for the acquisition of
property and equipment (reimbursement type grants) are recorded as grant receivables and
credited to non-operating revenues in the period operating expenditures are incurred. Capital
grants received in advance of project costs being incurred are deferred.

When assets acquired with capital grant funds are disposed of before their useful life, the
Authority is required to notify the granting federal agency. A proportional amount of the proceeds
or fair market value, if any, of such property and equipment, may be used to acquire like-kind
replacement vehicles or remitted to the granting federal agency.

Property and Depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost and include expenditures that substantially
increase the useful lives of existing assets. Routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as
incurred. An asset is capitalized if its value exceeds $2,000 and it has an economic life of greater
than one year. The asset capitalization level for projects funded by grants is the full cost of the
assets acquired regardless of the $2,000 threshold. The capitalization cost of a physical asset is
defined to be the full cost of placing the asset into productive service.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets, as follows:

Description Years
Land and leasehold improvements 5-20
Buildings and improvements 20-40
Revenue vehicles 4-12
Transit shelters 5-8
Other equipment 1-10

) ~ (continued)
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Property and Depreciation (continued)

Assets acquired with capital grants are included in property and equipment and depreciation on
those assets is included in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets.

Estimated Claims Payable

The Authority has a self-insurance program for public liability, personal injury, property damage
and worker's compensation (see Note 7). Claims are accrued in the year the expenses are
incurred, based upon estimates of the claim liabilities made by management and the legal
counsel of the Authority. Also provided for are estimates of claims incurred during the year but
not yet reported. These estimates are based on past experience and current outstanding claims.

Compensated Absences
The Authority accrues vacation and sick pay benefits as earned by its employees. Non-current

accrued fringe benefits are estimated based on the average vacation and sick expense from the
previous five years.

Current Non-current
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2005 $ 3493885 § 617,990
Vacation & Sick Liability Earned 3,177,283 -
Vacation & Sick Liability Paid (3,193,640) (208,315)
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2006 $ 3477528 S 409,675
Vacation & Sick Liability Earned 3,306,191 -
Vacation & Sick Liability Paid (3,397,679) 99,022
Compensated Absences Liability December 31, 2007 $ 3,386,040 3 508,697

Passenger Fares

Passenger fares are recorded as revenue at the time services are performed.

Budgetary Accounting and Control
The Authority’s annual budget is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting as permitted by

law. The Authority maintains budgetary control by not allowing total expenditures to exceed total
appropriations without approval of the Board of Trustees.

(continued)
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Use of Estimates

The accounting and reporting policies of COTA conform to accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results differ from those estimates.

Non-exchange Transactions

Non-exchange transactions, in which the Authority receives value without directly giving equal
value in return, include sales tax revenue and grants. On an accrual basis, revenue from sales
taxes is recognized in the period when the underlying exchange transaction occurs. Therefore,
taxes on items sold in 2007 will be recognized as revenue in 2007. Revenue from grants is
recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility
requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources are
required to be used or the fiscal year when use is first permitted, and expenditure requirements,
in which the resources are provided to the Authority on a reimbursement basis.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2004, GASB issued Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers
for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions. This statement established standards for the
measurement, recognitions, and display of OPEB expense/expenditures and related liabilities
(assets), note disclosures, and, if applicable, required supplementary information in the financial
reports of the state and local government employers. This statement will not be effective for the
Authority until periods beginning after December 15, 2007, and as such, the Authority has not
determined the impact that this statement will have on its financial statements.

(continued)
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New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

During December 2004, the GASB issued Statement No. 46, Net Assets Restricted by
Legislation, an amendment of GASB Statement No. 34. This statement clarifies that a legally
enforceable enabling legislation restriction is one that a party external to a government, such as
citizens, public interest groups, or the judiciary-can compel a government to honor. The
Statement states that the legal enforceability of an enabling legislation restriction should be
reevaluated if any of the resources raised by the enabling legislation are used for a purpose not
specified by the enabling legislation or if a government has other cause for reconsideration.
Although the determination that a particular restriction is not legally enforceable may cause a
government to review the enforceability of other restrictions, it should not necessarily lead a
government to the same conclusion for all enabling legislation restrictions. This statement also
specifies the accounting and financial reporting requirements if new enabling legislation replaces
existing enabling legislation or if legal enforceability is reevaluated.  Finally, this Statement
requires governments to disclose the portion of total net assets that is restricted by enabling
legislation. The requirements of this statement are effective for the Authority for 2006, and as
such, the Authority has determined that this statement has no impact on its financial statements.

In June 2005, GASB issued Statement No. 47, Accounting for Termination Benefits. This
statement provides accounting and reporting guidance for state and local governments that offer
either voluntary termination benefits (e.g. early retirement incentives) or involuntary termination
benefits (i.e., severance). The significant requirements of Statement 47 include the recognition in
accrual basis financials as a liability and expense for involuntary termination benefits when (1) a
termination plan has been approved by those with the authority to commit the government to the
plan, (2) the plan has been communicated to the employees, and (3) the amount can be
estimated. A liability and expense for voluntary termination benefits should be recognized when
the offer is accepted and the amount can be estimated. Statement 47 also requires employers to
disclose a description of the termination benefit arrangements, the cost of the termination
benefits, and the significant methods and assumptions used to determine termination benefit
liabilities. Statement 47 is effective for the Authority in 2006, and as such, the Authority has
determined that there is no material impact on its financial statements.

In September 2006, GASB issued Statement No. 48, Sales and Pledges of Receivables and
Future Revenues and Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets and Future Revenues and Statement No.
49, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations. The requirements
for these Statements become effective in fiscal years 2007 and 2008, respectively, and as such,
the Authority has determined that there is no material impact on its financial statements.

Lastly, in May, 2007, GASB issued Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures an amendment of
GASB Statements No. 25 and No. 27. The requirements for this statement become effective in
fiscal year 2008. The Authority is in the process of determining the impact on the financial
statements.

(continued)
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(3) Cash and Investments

The investment and deposit of Authority monies are governed by the provisions of the Ohio
Revised Code. In accordance with these statutes, only financial institutions located in Ohio are
eligible to hold public deposits. The statutes also permit the Authority to invest its monies in
certificates of deposit, savings accounts, money market accounts, the State Treasurer's Asset
Reserve investment pool (STAR Ohio), and obligations of the United States government or
certain agencies thereof. The Authority may also enter into repurchase agreements with any
eligible depository for a period not exceeding thirty days. The Authority is prohibited from
investing in any financial instrument, contract, or obligation whose value or return is based upon
or linked to another asset or index, or both, separate from the financial instrument, contract, or
obligation itself (commonly known as a derivative). The Authority is also prohibited from investing
in reserve purchase agreements.

STAR Ohio is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer's Office, which allows
governments within the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not
registered with the Securities Exchange Commission as an investment company, but does
operate in a manner similar to Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in
STAR Ohio are valued at STAR Ohio’s share price, which is the price the investment could be
sold for on December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Public depositories must give security for all public funds on deposit. These institutions may
either specifically collateralize individual accounts in addition to amounts insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), or may pledge a pool of government securities with a
market value equal to 105% of the total value of public monies on deposit at the institution.
Repurchase agreements must be secured by the specific government securities upon which the
repurchase agreements are based. These securities must be obligations of or guaranteed by the
United States and mature or be redeemable within five years of the date of the related
repurchase agreement. State law does not require security for public deposits and investments
to be maintained in the Authority’s name.

(continued)
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Deposits With Financial Institutions

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Authority’s deposits may not
be returned. Public depositories must give security for all public funds on deposit. All deposits
are collateralized with eligible securities in amounts equal to at least 105% of the carrying value
of the deposit. Such collateral, as permitted by Chapter 135 of the Ohio Revised Code, is held in
financial institution collateral pools at Federal Reserve Banks, or at member banks of the Federal
Reserve System, in the name of the respective depository bank and pledged as a pool of
collateral against all of the public deposits it holds or as specific collateral held at the Federal
Reserve Bank in the name of the Authority.

At December 31, 2007, the carrying amount of the Authority’s deposits with financial institutions
was $5,486,642 and the bank balance was $5,701,019. The difference results mainly from
outstanding checks. Based on criteria as described in GASB Statement No. 40, “Deposit and
Investment Risk Disclosure”, as of December 31, 2007, $100,994 was covered by Federal
Deposit Insurance. The $5,600,025 exposed to custodial risk was collateralized by a pool of
securities maintained by the Authority’s financial institutions but not in the Authority’'s name. In
addition, the Authority had $5,220 of cash on hand

At December 31, 2006, the carrying amount of the Authority’s deposits with financial institutions
was $4,351,860 and the bank balance was $5,741,075. The difference results mainly from
outstanding checks. Based on criteria as described in GASB Statement No. 40, “Deposit and
Investment Risk Disclosure”, as of December 31, 2006, $100,789 was covered by Federal
Deposit Insurance. The $5,640,286 exposed to custodial risk was collateralized by a pool of
securities maintained by the Authority’s financial institutions but not in the Authority’s name. In
addition, the Authority had $5,220 of cash on hand.

Investments and Other Deposits

As of December 31, 2007 and 20086, the Authority held equity of $22,032,354 and $21,920,296
respectively, in the STAR Ohio investment pool. As of March 2008, Star Ohio has maintained the
highest Standard and Poors rating of AAA. This investment has not been categorized based on
a custodial risk because it is not a security. The relationship between the Authority and the
investment asset is a direct contractual relationship and the investments evidence ownership or
creditorship.

(continued)
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(4) Capital Assets

Capital asset activities for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

December 31,
January 1, 2007  Additions Disposals Transfers 2007

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:

Land $ 5448906 - § - % 2 § 5448908

CIP 2,231,236 247,676 (20,000)  (1,668,740) 790,172
Total 7,680,142 247,676 (20,000)  (1,668.738) 6,239,080
Capital Assets Being Depreciated:

Land and leasehold improvements 8,787 442 25,305 25,150 8,837,897

Building and improvements 44,390,102 62,221 (926,918) 2,689,707 46,215,112

Revenue vehicles 67,577,630 11,181,646 (5,080,594) 834,552 74,513,234

Transit shelter 1,981,253 260,515 47,048 2,288,816

Other equipment 27,137,687 769,011 (19,245)  (1,927,719) 25,959,734
Total 149,874,114 12,298,698 (6,026,757) 1,668,738 157,814,793
Less Accumulated Depreciation:

Land and leasehold improvements (6,582,097) (668,291) (7,250,388)

Building and improvements (18,980,484) (1,316,961) (20,297 445)

Revenue vehicles (47,087,665) (4,756,051) 4675397 (47,168,319)

Transit shelter (1,161,561) (441,630) (1,603,191)

Other equipment (22,394,335) (1,032,276) 404,761 (23,021,850)
Total (96,206,142) (8,215,209) 5,080,158 - (99,341,193)
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 53,667,972 4,083,489 (946,599) 1,668,738 58,473,600
Total Capital Assets, Net $ 61348114 $§ 4331165 $  (966,599) § - $ 64712680

(continued)
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Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

(4)

(5)

Capital Assets (continued)

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:
Land
CIP

Total

Capital Assets Being Depreciated:
Land and leasehold improvements
Building and improvements
Revenue vehicles
Transit shelter
Other equipment

Total

Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Land and leasehold improvements
Building and improvements
Revenue vehicles
Transit shelter
Other equipment

Total

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net

Total Capital Assets, Net

December 31,

January 1, 2006 Additions Disposals Transfers 2006
5445576 $ - 8 -8 3330 § 5448906
19,693,961 4,312,465 (17,471,064) (4,304,126) 2,231,236
25,139,537 4,312,465 (17.471,064) (4,300,796) 7,680,142
9,097,046 (367,447) 57,843 8,787,442
44 949 807 513,463 (1,073,168) 44,390,102
69,326,152 (1,895,729) 147,207 67,577,630
2,120,905 (1,214,842) 1,075,180 1,981,253
27,754,920 329,063 (5,039,020) 4,093,724 27,138,687
153,248,830 842,526 (8,517,038) 4300796 149,875,114
(6,281,408) (528,033) 227,344 - (6,582,097)
(17,628,582) (1,351,902) - - (18,980,484)
(44,330,217) (3,987,684) 1,230,236 - (47,087,665)
(2,094,689) (281,714) 1,214,842 - (1,161,561)
(25,157,934) (2,415,525) 5,179,124 - (22,394,335)
(95,492,830) (8,564.858) 7,851,546 - (96,206,142)
57,756,000 (7,722,332) (665,492) 4,300,796 53,668,972
$ 82895537 $ (3409,867) $ (18,136,556) $ - $ 61,349,114

For discussion of the $665,492 transfer of revenue vehicles, see Note 10, Special Item in

2006.

Leases

COTA leases certain property and office equipment under operating leases. Rental expense for
all operating leases was approximately $221,902 in 2007 and $359,000 in 2006. No lease
commitments exist after 2008 and the remaining minimum payments are $27,758 in 2008.
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(6) Grants, Reimbursements and Special Fare Assistance

(7)

Grants, reimbursements and special fare assistance included in the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Assets for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, consist
of the following:

2007 2006
Federal:
FTA Operating Assistance $ 11479652 $ 10,866,698
FTA Capital Assistance 7,923,838 3.215,213
Total $ 19403490 $ 14,081,911
State:
ODOT Elderly and Disabled Fare Assistance $ 766,168 $ 817,978
ODOT Fuel Tax Reimbursement 647,028 627,351
ODOT Capital Assistance 2,136,637 1,608,175
Other Local Operating Assistance 3,420 17,709
Total $ 3553253 $ 3,071,213

Risk Management

COTA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft or destruction of assets, injuries to
employees and natural disasters. The Authority purchases commercial insurance for employee
bonding, flood, fire, property, crime, travel and general liability. There have been no reductions
in coverage nor have there been any settlements exceeding insurance coverage for the past
three years.

COTA is self-insured for all public liability, personal injury and property damage claims. The
estimated liability for such claims of $508,347 at December 31, 2007, and $1,401,301 at
December 31, 2006, are included in estimated claims payable in the accompanying balance
sheets. At December 31, 2007, and 2006, $11,396,741 and $12,373,009, respectively, were
restricted by the Board of Trustees to fund the self-insurance program. Such funds are included
in board designated assets in the accompanying balance sheets.

Prior to June 30, 1998, COTA was insured through the State of Ohio Bureau of Workers’
Compensation (BWC) for injuries to its employees. On July 1, 1998, the Authority entered into an
agreement with the BWC to become self-insured for claims pertaining to work-related injuries to
Authority employees occurring on or after that date. The BWC agreed to continue to administer
and pay all compensation claims arising on or before June 30, 1998. The estimated liability for all
such claims occurring since July 1, 1998, is $660,998 at December 31, 2007, and is included as
a liability in the accompanying balance sheet.

(continued)
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(7) Risk Management (continued)

(8)

The general claims liability was calculated by establishing reserves on a case-by-case basis after
analysis by in-house counsel and outside attorneys. The workers’ compensation liability was
determined by analyzing claim lag information provided by COTA third party administrators. A
summary of changes in self-insurance claims liability for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005 follows:

Workers'
General Liability Compensation

Claims liability at December 31, 2005 547,428 520,954
Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements 1,100,050 719,317

Claims paid (246,177) (545,910)
Claims liability at December 31, 2006 1,401,301 694,361

Incurred claims, net of favorable settlements 620,255 585,430
Claims paid (1,513,209) (618,793)
Claims liability at December 31, 2007 $ 508,347 $ 660,998

Pension Plan

COTA contributes to the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS), which administers
three separate pension plans as described below: the Traditional Pension Plan (TP) — a cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan; the Member Directed Plan (MD) - a
defined contribution plan: and the Combined Plan (CO) — a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan that has elements of both a defined benefit and defined contribution
plan. OPERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and post-retirement health care benefits to
qualifying members of both the TP and CO plans; however, health care benefits are not
statutorily guaranteed. Members of the MD plan do not qualify for ancillary benefits, including
post-employment health care coverage. Chapter 145 of the Ohio Revised Code (ORC) assigns
the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the OPERS Board of Trustees (Board).

The ORC provides statutory authority for member and employer contributions. For 2007,
member and employer contribution rates were consistent across all three plans. The 2007
member contribution rates were 9.5% of their annual covered salary and COTA is required to
contribute an actuarially determined rate. In 2007, the employer contribution rate for local
employers was 13.85% of annual covered payroll. In 2006, the employer contribution rate for
local employers was 13.7% of annual covered payroll.

(continued)
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(8) Pension Plan (continued)

The Authority’s contributions to OPERS for the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006, and
2005 were approximately $4,513,000 $4,390,000, and $4,887,000 respectively, equal to the
required contributions for each year. Required employer contributions are equal to 100% of the
dollar amount extracted from the Authority’s records.

The assumptions and calculations below were based on OPERS’ latest actuarial review
performed as of December 31, 2006. The individual entry age actuarial cost method of valuation
is used in determining the present value of OPEB. The difference between assumed and actual
experience (actuarial gains and losses) becomes part of unfunded actuarial accrued liability. All
investments are carried at market value. For actuarial valuation purposes, a smoothed market
approach is used. Under this approach, assets are adjusted to reflect 25% of unrealized market
appreciation or depreciation on investment assets annually, not to exceed a 12% corridor. The
investment assumption rate for 2006 was 6.5%. An annual increase of 4.00%, compounded
annually, is the base portion of the individual pay increase assumption. This assumes no change
in the number of active employees. In addition, annual pay increases over and above the 4.00%
base increase, were assumed to range from .50% to 6.30%. Health care costs were assumed to
increased at the projected wage inflation rate plus an additional factor ranging from 0.50% to
5.00% for the next 8 years. In subsequent years, (9 and beyond) health care costs were
assumed to increases at 4.00% (the projected wage inflation rate).

OPEB is advance funded on an actuarially determined basis. The Traditional Pension and
Combined Plans had 374,979 active contributing participants as of December 31, 2007. The
number of active contributing participants for both plans used in the December 31, 2006,
actuarial valuation was 362,130. The actuarial value of the Retirement System’s net assets
available for OPEB at December 31, 2006 was $12.0 billion. Based on the actuarial cost method
used, the Actuarial Valuation as of December 31, 2006, reported the actuarial accrued liability
and the unfunded actuarial accrued liability for OPEB at $30.7 billion and $18.7 billion,
respectively.

OPERS' issues a stand-alone financial report that includes the financial statements. That report
may be obtained by writing to Ohio Public Employees Retirement System, 277 East Town Street,
Columbus, Ohio, 43215-4642, or by calling 1-614-222-5601 or 1-800-222-PERS (7377).

The postretirement health care coverage includes a medical plan, prescription drug program and
Medicare Part B premium reimbursement to qualifying members. In order to qualify for post
retirement health care coverage, age and service retirees under the TP and CO must have 10 or
more years of qualifying Ohio service credit. Health care coverage for disability recipients and
primary survivor recipients is available. The health care coverage provided by the retirement
system meets the definition of an Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) as described in GASB
Statement No. 45, “Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-employment
Benefits other than Pension.” A portion of each contribution to OPERS is set aside for the
funding of post retirement health care.

(continued)
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(8) Pension Plan (continued)

(9)

The Ohio Revised Code provides the statutory authority requiring public employers to fund post
retirement health care through their contributions to OPERS. A portion of each employer's
contribution to OPERS is set aside for the funding of post retirement health care benefits. Active
members do not make contributions to the OPEB plan. OPERS Post Employment Health Care
plan was established under, and is administered in accordance with, Internal Revenue Code
401(h). The 2007 employer contribution rate for local employers was 13.85% of annual covered
payroll. For 2007, the employer contribution allocated to the health care plan from January 1
through June 30 2007 and July 1 through December 31 2007 was 5% and 6% of covered payroll
respectively. For 2006, 4% was the portion that was used to fund health care for the year.
COTA's contributions actually made to fund post-employment benefits totaled $1,792,000 in
2007, $1,282,000 in 2006, $1,443,000 in 2005.

Under the HCPP, retirees eligible for health care coverage will receive a graded monthly
allocation based on their years of service at retirement. The Plan incorporates a cafeteria
approach, offering a broad range of health care options that allow benefit recipients to use their
monthly allocation to purchase health care coverage customized to meet their individual needs.
If the monthly allocation exceeds the cost of the options selected, the excess is deposited into a
Retiree Medical Account that can be used to fund future health care expenses.

The Health Care Preservation Plan (HCPP) adopted by the OPERS Retirement Board on
September 9, 2004, was effective January 1, 2007. Member and employer contribution rates
increased as of January 1, 2006, January 1, 2007 and January 1, 2008, which allowed additional
funds to be allocated to the health care plan.

Contingent Liabilities
Litigation

It is the Authority’s policy to act as self-insurer for certain insurable risks consisting primarily of
public liability and property damage. At December 31, 2007, COTA has been named in various
public liability and property damage claims and suits, some of which seek significant damages.
The ultimate outcome of the claims and suits cannot be determined; however, it is the opinion of
management that any resulting liability to the Authority in excess of that provided for in the
accompanying balance sheet will not have a material adverse effect on the Authority’s financial
position.

(continued)
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Federal and State Grants

Under the terms of the Authority’s various grants, periodic audits are required where certain costs
could be questioned as not being an eligible expenditure under the terms of the grants. At
December 31, 2007, there were no material questioned costs that had not been resolved with
appropriate federal and state agencies. Questioned costs could still be identified during audits to
be conducted in the future. In the opinion of COTA's management, no material grant
expenditures will be disallowed.

FTA grant stipulations also require the granter to retain assets acquired by FTA funds for the full
estimated asset life (as determined by the FTA). If this provision is not met, the granter must
refund FTA’s un-depreciated basis in assets disposed.

(10) Special Item — Loss on transfer of assets

In 2001, the Authority purchased 38 low-floor 30-foot diesel powered buses from Advanced Bus
Industries (ABI). In the fall of 2001, ABI filed for bankruptcy and the company’'s assets were
liquidated. During the next three years, COTA experienced a multitude of equipment failures on
the ABI buses including chassis structure cracks, passenger door controller problems, engine
compartment seal defects, and premature brake wear. In 2003, the ABI buses were the costliest
in the fleet to operate at $0.55 per mile. Service calls on ABI buses amounted to 23% of all fleet
breakdowns. In June 2005, the Authority received permission from the FTA to transfer the
remaining Federal interest in six of the ABI buses to other FTA grant recipient transit systems
and the COTA Board of Trustees authorized the transfer of the Federal interest and title. The
transfer of the remaining six ABI buses resulted in a $665,492 loss in 2006 of the remaining net
book value of the buses. The Authority purchased new replacement buses in 2004 and 2005
with lower operating and maintenance costs.

(continued)
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11) Special Item — Loss on project impairment

Since 2002, COTA staff has been working with the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), Mid
Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC), and the Ohio Department of Transportation
(ODOT), consultants, local government officials, and the general public to study the feasibility of
constructing a fixed guideway transit project in the North Corridor.

In 2003, the project scoping was completed and four (4) alternatives emerged for further analysis:
(1) a “No build” alternative and three “Build” alternatives including (1) Bus Rapid Transit, (2)
Streetcar, and (3) Light Rail Transit. COTA Staff, working in concert with the various
stakeholders, conducted the Alternative Analysis (AA) and Preliminary Draft Environmental
Impact Statement (DEIS) identifying the impacts, benefits, and cost effectiveness of the
alternatives as outlined by the FTA criteria.

The financial feasibility of any North Corridor fixed guideway option relies upon a 50%
contribution of federal funding. The FTA currently requires that projects have a Cost
Effectiveness Index (CEIl) lower than $23 per hour of user benefit in order to receive federal
funding for construction. None of the fixed guideway options under consideration in the North
Corridor achieved this standard. The corridor may be reconsidered for fixed guideway
development at such time as there are significant changes in travel within the corridor, fuel costs,
or FTA project evaluation criteria. At December 31, 2006, the Authority concluded that
$13,785,824 of costs that have been capitalized as a result of the efforts mentioned above are
impaired under GASB Statement No. 42. In addition, the Authority identified additional projects
related to the North Corridor Project that were also impaired in the amount of $3,685,240 as of
December 31, 2006.

At December 31, 2007, the Authority concluded that $946,917 of ITS project costs that had been
capitalized were impaired under GASB Statement No. 42.

(concluded)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Supplemental Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and

Changes in Net Assets - Budget vs. Actual (Accrual Basis)
Year ended December 31, 2007

OPERATING:REVENUES. .....so:ccmesnmmmmnsiramin s

OPERATING EXPENSES OTHER THAN DEPRECIATION:

EORGE BRNETS . cinsmimansmiiamiss: mutsss s mameiasais s
Materials and SUPPNBES: .....iis i isisssmsvassass
Purchased transportation.................coiiiiii,
BOIVICES .. ..ot e e e ST e ik

Leases and rentalS.........oooooeeivee oo
Claims and insurance, net of settlements...........................
AGVETHSING .. coxov s smicsmm s mssiesine s s sames sisse ssmes
MISCEIBNEOUS: ... cumnmnnmnmssicmswiss st s Ao

Total operating eXpPenSes..........ooccviiimiiiiiciiiiiiieirieceeiins
OPERATING LOSS. ... o e e

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):

Sales taX TBVENUES. ..ot

Federal operating grants and reimbursements
State operating grants, reimbursements and

special fare assistance................coo
InVEStment INCOME o nsnisrs i e T s

Loss before capital grants...............ccoooiiiii

CAPITAL GRANT REVENUE:

BTl s s s e i o N S G e e i e S i

SPECIAL ITEM

Loss on project impairment. . canunasaiunaanmanss
CHANGE INNET ASSETS .. .o
NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR .........coooiiiiiiiiis
NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR... ..ot cctcceieesneareaaasias

See accompanying Independent Auditors' report.

(OVER)/
UNDER

BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE
$ 12082279 $ 13294895 $ 1212616
33,448,291 28,498,141 4,950,150
14,107,617 18,334,414 (4,226,797)
10,449,898 10,085,202 364,696
5,153,476 5,015,657 137,819
4,214,931 4,096,126 118,805
1,622,498 1,501,736 120,762
830,157 766,222 63,935
246,552 208,838 37,714
668,934 674,845 (5,911)
115,840 99,638 16,202
502,191 486,116 16,075
71,360,385 69,766,935 1,593,450
10,458,767 8,227,145 2,231,622
81,819,152 77.994,080 3,825,072
(69.736,873)  (64,699,185) 5,037,688
46,701,551 47,615,932 914,381
10,568,398 11,479,652 911,254
1,143,095 1,416,616 273,521
889,902 1,176,901 286,999
130,125 748,242 618,117
59,433,071 62,437,343 3,004,272
(10,303,802) (2,261,842) 8,041,960
13,537,602 7,923,838 (5,613,764)
2,202,741 2,136,637 (66,104)
421,000 : (421,000)
16,161,343 10,060,475 (6.100,868)
- (946,917) (946,917)

5,857,541 6,851,716 994,175
92,965,643 92,965,643 :
$ 98823184 $ 99817359 S 994175
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STATISTICAL
SECTION

This part of COTA’'s comprehensive annual financial report contains detailed
information presented in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) Statement No. 44, Economic Condition Reporting: The Statistical

Section. These schedules provide additional details to better understand the

financial statements, notes and required supplemental information.

Financial Trends and Revenue Capaity P53-61

These schedules indicate how the Authority’s performance and conditions have changed
over a ten year time frame. Also contained in these schedules in information to help the
reader understand the Authority’s most significant revenue sources.

Debt Capacity P62-65

These schedules indicate COTA specific debt service information as well as direct and
overlapping debt computations from Franklin County.

Economic and Demographic Information P66-69
These schedules contain economic and demographic indicators to help the reader understand
the environment within which the Authority’s financial activities take place.

Operating Information P70-73
These schedules contain data to help the reader understand how to the information in the
Authority’s financial report relates to the services the Authority provides and the activities it
performs.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Revenues and Operating Assistance -

Comparison to Industry Trend Data
Last Ten Fiscal Years

TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY (1)

YEAR

1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007

PASSENGER

40.8
373
36.1
35.2
325
326
329
324

-

OTHER

15.2
16.4
17.4
14.1
17.3
18.1
16.7
18.7

OPERATING AND OTHER REVENUE

TOTAL

56.0
53.7
53.5
493
498
50.7
496
481

-

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY (2

YEAR

1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007

* Information not available

OPERATING AND OTHER REVENUE

PASSENGER

213
16.3
16.9
136
17.7
15.9
146
148
16.7
16.2

OTHER
(3

10.1 (4)
171
11.0
29.7
85
13.0
15.5
134
8.4
14.2

TOTAL

314
334
279
433
26.2
289
30.1
28.2
251
294

OPERATING ASSISTANCE
STATE &
LOCAL FEDERAL TOTAL
40.1 3.9 44.0
424 39 46.3
42.4 41 465
46.2 45 50.7
453 49 50.2
435 58 49.3
434 7.0 50.4
446 7.3 51.9
OPERATING ASSISTANCE
STATE &
LOCAL FEDERAL  TOTAL
(5

65.5 <H 68.6
546 12.0 66.6
57.8 143 72.1
45.0 1.7 56.7
57.0 16.8 73.8
57.1 14.0 71.1
56.7 132 69.9
57.9 139 71.8
61.2 137 74.9
57.2 13.4 70.6

(1) Source: The American Public Transit Association, APTA Transit Fact Book

(2) Percentages are derived from the Authority's independently audited annual financial statements, restated prior to 2001
due to changes in the recording of local sales tax revenue and the recognition of capital grants and gifts as revenues

(3) Includes auxiliary transportation revenues, interest income, planning study assistance revenue, nontransportation, other
revenues and capital grants

(4) Excludes experience refund from the Bureau of Workers' Compensation (BWC)
(5) Includes local sales tax revenues, and state operating grants, reimbursements, and special fare assistance
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TOTAL
ALL

REVENUES

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

TOTAL
ALL
REVENUES

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Farebox Revenues vs. Operating Expenses
Last Ten Fiscal Years

80.0
70.0
60.0
2 500
2
% 40.0
c
= 300
20.0
10.0
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Farebox revenues include passenger, special transit, and charter revenues;
operating expenses exclude depreciation
BFarebox Revenues B Operating Expenses
CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Farebox Recovery Ratio
Last Ten Fiscal Years
30.0%
25.0%
20.0%
15.0%
10.0%
5.0%
0.0% -
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Recovery ratio is calculated as farebox revenues (as defined above) divided by
operating expenses (as defined above)
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Operating Expenses - Comparison to Industry Trend Data
Last Ten Fiscal Years

TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY (1)

LABOR MATERIALS CLAIMS PURCHASED

AND AND AND TRANS-
YEAR FRINGES SERVICES SUPPLIES UTILITIES INSURANCE PORTATION OTHER
1998 71.7% 6.0% 9.4% 3.5% 2.4% 10.1% (3.1%)
1999 70.9% 5.9% 9.2% 3.3% 2.2% 11.5% (3.0%)
2000 69.8% 57% 10.0% 3.2% 2.2% 12.2% (3.1%)
2001 69.5% 5.9% 10.0% 3.3% 2.1% 12.6% (3.4%)
2002 70.2% 6.2% 9.2% 31% 2.5% 12.0% (3.2%)
2003 69.1% 6.0% 9.0% 3.0% 2.6% 13.4% (3.1%)
2004 68.7% 5.8% 9.1% 3.0% 2.6% 13.4% (2.6%)
2005 66.9% 5.8% 10.1% 3.2% 2.5% 13.8% (2.3%)
20% - - - - - - -
200? - Ld - - - - -

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY )

LABOR MATERIALS CLAIMS PURCHASED

AND AND AND TRANS-
YEAR FRINGES SERVICES SUPPLIES UTILITIES INSURANCE PORTATION OTHER
1998 75.4% 5.6% 7.4% 1.7% 0.2% 5.8% 3.9%
1999 72.8% 8.5% 7.3% 1.7% 0.4% 5.6% 3.7%
2000 69.5% 9.4% 9.3% 1.7% 0.4% 5.9% 3.8%
2001 73.2% 6.6% 8.7% 1.9% 0.6% 5.7% 3.3%
2002 75.7% 5.5% 8.2% 1.7% 0.5% 57% 27%
2003 74.1% 5.4% 9.3% 1.9% 0.5% 6.0% 2.8%
2004 73.9% 5.5% 9.6% 1.8% 0.4% 6.2% 2.6%
2005 71.9% 5.0% 11.6% 2.1% 0.8% 6.1% 2.5%
2006 67.1% 5.9% 14.5% 2.2% 1.0% 7.2% 2.2%
2007 67.1% 5.9% 14.5% 22% 1.0% 7.2% 2.2%

* Information not available

(1) Source: The American Public Transit Association, APTA Transit Fact Book
(2) Total operating expenses exclude depreciation

(3) Percentages are derived from the Authority’s independently audited annual financial statements
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TOTAL
OPERATING
EXPENSES

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

TOTAL
OPERATING

EXPENSES (2)

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
LEGAL DEBT MARGIN

DECEMBER 31, 2007
(IN THOUSANDS)

CALCULATION OF LEGAL OVERALL DEBT MARGIN:

Total assessed property valuation of Authority

(2006 tax year valuation) (1) ......cooiieiiiiieieieiie et ceie e e s e esseseseesaeeennnesesennnneeeenneeennnneeen . 9 28,258,014
Miiltiplied by Ledgal-overall debt Tnation {0) .. smmmsmmsmssssmsssisme s issicarams 5.00%
Equals: Total legal voted and unvoted debt limitation .................cccccoooiiiiiiiiiccccccccceeeeee. 1,412,951
Less: Nonexempt general obligation debt (voted and unvoted) (2) .........ccooeviriiciiiiiiiiicciicciceeeee. 9 -

Equals: Legal overall debt margin (maximum amount permitted for new
voted and unvoted nonexempt general obligation debt issuances) ................cco $ 1,412,951

CALCULATION OF LEGAL UNVOTED DEBT MARGIN:

Total assessed property valuation of Franklin County

(2007 tax year valuation) (1) .......ooiviieeciiii ettt ee . 9 28,258,014
Multiplied by:: Legal unvoted debt Iimitation (36) . mmnanmsmnsiaminamasmanmaimnsasmni 0.10%
Equals: Legal unvoted debt imitation ... D 28,259

Less: Maximum aggregate amounts of principal and interest

payable in any one CaleNdar YA (2) .....c.cviiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt a e e st e e e e st e s s e s e e e $ -

Equals: Legal unvoted debt margin (maximum annual debt service charges
permitted for new unvoted nonexempt general obligation debt issuances)................co.cocoeiee.. 8 28,259

Sources
(1) Franklin County Auditor's Office
(2) The Authority's independently audited annual financial statements
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Ratio of General Bonded Debt to Assessed Value and

Net Bonded Debt per Capita
Last Ten Fiscal Years

RATIO OF
ASSESSED GENERAL BONDED DEBT TO BONDED DEBT
YEAR POPULATION VALUE BONDED DEBT ASSESSED VALUE PER CAPITA
)} 4)
1998 1.067,002 2 $ 18,607,708,184 $ 2,640,000 0.01% $2.47
1999 1,079,204 (2 $ 21,032,111,000 $ 1,360,000 0.01% $1.26
2000 1,068,978 (1) $ 22,321,127,505 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2001 1.071.524 ) $ 22,705,244.424 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2002 1,086,814 (1) $ 25,447,191,720 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2003 1,088,944 (1) $ 25,474,792,681 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2004 1,088,971 (1 $ 26,007,315,683 $ = 0.00% $0.00
2005 1,112,880 (1 $ 29,101,151,990 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2006 1,095,662 (2) $ 29,193,651,687 $ - 0.00% $0.00
2007 1,153,932 $ 28,259,014,070 $ - 0.00% $0.00

Sources:

(1) U. S. Department of Commerce - Bureau of the Census

(2) Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission estimate for year ended
(3) Franklin County Auditor's Office

(4) The Authority's independently audited annual financial statements

63



VIN
VIN
VIN
WIN
VIN
VIN
VIN
gy
99/
€96

Oiivy

JOVHIA0D
1830

(9002 pue ‘5002 'v00Z) Wel |ewads sapniax3 (g)

anuane) se sjuesb [eydes jo uoijuBooal By pue anuaAa) xej sejes jo Buipiodas ay) uj saBueyd o) anp |0z 0} Joud pejeisal ale sanuaney (p)
suonebijqo esea) [endes uo pied isaseiul pue edipuud sepniox (g)
asuadxe Jsalalul pue uoneaidep apnjoxe sasuadxe |gjo] (2)

(9661 ) uonesuadwo) si@YI0pA JO NEAING B}
woyy punjey eousuadxy ue pue ‘'sanuaial Juesb |eydes 'senuanes Buiesadouou 'senuasas Bulesado || apnjoul senuaray (1)

sjuaiuaje)s |eioueul pajpne Ajjuapuadepul s fuoyiny ayl @anog

- 8 - % - 8 £0£'G96'GS §£6'09.'69% §.b'090'018 £14'261'68% L002
- 8 -8 -8 Z£9'619'9¢ 6SE'169'29% P¥S'0E8'vS GEG'LEL'BLE 9002
-8 - 8 - 8 (s) (s9e'avy'es) 1ZL'2I8'ELs 6v2'G80'6% 509'6¥Y'6.S 5002
-8 = il - 8 (s) (esv'6ER'1S) L00'99%' 128 LSP'OBE'LLS 110°£00'18S v00Z
= 1§ -8 -8 (€06'6.8'18) SLL'L60'LLS 695'€£9'8% 18L'¥88'LLS €002
-8 - & - 8 120'055'2$ 0£€£'058'£9% Z9l'9Lp'es €15'0/8'ELS 200z
I Y - 8 (111'0698) ZES'GLLLLS 610'92£'928 oby' LIy L6S 1002
LSG'ZIV'LS 165258 000'09€'1§ 998'06.'9% 060'860'99% £86'95L'68 ¥ 6E6'EY9'BLS 0002
006'¥SY'L$ 006'vL1LS 000'082'1$ 06Z'L¥L'LLS 8L1'€ZL'85S TIEVOT LIS W 06.'890'18% 6661
00b'vSH' LS 00¥'¥SZ$ 000'00Z'1§ oiv'egl 'es z8z'z12'ess £2€'9PE'€S W 120'LvL'e98 8661
V101 IST9IINI VdioNIHd IAY3S 1830 E§3SNIdX3a SINVES TSINNIATY HVIA
HO4 318V IIVAY IVLIdVD
© SINIWIHINDIY F0IAYIS 1830 S3ISNIJXI ¥IA0
INNIAIY 13N

Siea) |edsi4 ua) jsen
abeisanon 1qaq wia)-buon
ALIHOHLNY LISNVYL OIHO TVYLN3D



CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
COMPUTATION OF DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT

December 31, 2007

General --Applicable to the Authority--
Political Subdivision Obligation Percentage Amount
COTA 3 - 100.00% S =
Franklin County 243,805,000 100.00% 243,805,000
Cities wholly within COTA 1,446,761,204 100.00% 1,446,761,204
Cities with Overlapping:

City of Dublin 41,648,331 84.02% 34,994,927

City of Pickerington 13,067,500 0.35% 45,683
Villages wholly within COTA 6,985,000 100.00% 6,985,000
Villages with Overlapping:

Village of Canal Winchester 3,690,764 90.13% 3,326,551
Townships wholly within COTA 3,359,998 100.00% 3,359,998
Townships with Overlapping:

Washington Township 2,374,999 84.44% 2,005,470
School Districts wholly within COTA 639,792,025 100.00% 639,792,025
School Districts with Overlapping:

Canal Winchester Local S.D. 63,248,346 76.04% 48,092,693

Dublin City S.D. 182,306,182 79.80% 145,486,369

Hilliard City S.D. 166,455,745 100.00% 166,447,727

Licking Heights Local S.D. 57,894,017 55.10% 60,936,472

Olentangy Local S.D. 313,416,825 0.07% 227,574

Pickerington Local S.D. 157,879,130 1.27% 1,897,979

Plain Local S.D. 73,270,274 99.99% 73,264,809

South-Western City S.D. 110,594,989 99.85% 110,425,594

Teays Valley Local S.D. 38,969,830 0.09% 33,644

Westerville City S.D. 105,764,586 64.46% 68,171,280

Delaware County Joint Vocational S.D. - 0.05% -

Eastland Joint Vocational S.D. - 61.81% -

Licking County Joint Vocational S.D. 29,715,000 7.46% 2,217,336
Special District with Overlapping:

Delaware County District Library 575,000 0.05% 261

New Albany/Plain Jnt Park District 4,304,992 99.99% 4,304,560
Total $ 3,062,682156

Source: Ohio Municipal Advisory Council database

Notes Percentage applicable to COTA equals the Franklin County value of the political

subdivision divided by the total valuation. 2007 values are used.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Fare Rate Structure
December 31, 2007

CASH OR TICKET FARES:
B X S .ttt $ 200
LOCAlAN CROSSIOWIT .. cavivisivaimsssissasavissavvassivss rbinesss sivsssnsmssonsssivass snassn 1.50
Project Mainstream ADA TrD(1) ..oocvvvieiriereeieiiieeaesineeeesresaeeeseneneeseenneees 2.25
Project Mainstream NOn-ADA TFP(1) .ueveieieiieiiiiiiei e 3.00
COTA LINIE 3 aiaiccvniin sosmms v svsrmiis s e i s e i v S S e o 0.50
AN S T e Free
DAY PASSES (3
AU (4) ..ottt ettt a e $ 3.50
HUMan Service AGRNCY (6] ... weusssicscivessivsvivassiosisamiharaisaisisssssssirssions aviss 3.00
Children over 48" and under 12 years old, Senior Discount Card ),
OF KBY Card (7). ettt it et e et e e e e et et e e e 1.75
SEVENEDAY IPESS uiiuvinsiveas sorimsas i st s s Sy s ST i des s ot 18.00
MONTHLY PASSES:
ENBIESS .. e i e e e R R $ 62.00
o T | SO SROSRSRE 45.00
Project MainNSrEamm (1) ... aviimmiinainmmnsesiiiviseme sivssvesssasrs soss dasassss 70.00
Senior Discount Card (s), or Key Card (7) .......cooeviieieeiiiiieiieeceeeennes 22.00
SPECIAL FARES:
Children over 48" and under 12 years old, Senior Discount Card (),
OF K@Y AN (71 uvcncammmsnmaraniseio o immaris o imismssssass $ 075
Childrenunder 48" fall ......ciicvnsimmimiaimsimriss s aeivs i Free
All ADA Card (s) recipients on fixed-route bus serviceonly ..................... Free

(1) Door-to-door service on demand, in wheelchair lift-equipped paratransit mini-buses, for eligible
disabled riders holding an "ADA" card. ADA Trips are defined as trips originating 3/4 of a mile
or less from an existing fixed-route bus line that is in operation within the time of day and day
of the week. All other trips are considered a Non-ADA Trip.

(2) Shuttle-type service available in the Linden area during weekdays only

(3) Good for unlimited travel on all local/crosstown routes from time of validation until midnight

(4) Additional $0.50 required for express service

(5) Distributed by approved nonprofit service agencies for use by their clientele

(6) Photo identification card, for riders aged 65 and over

(7) Photo identification card, for eligible disabled riders

(8) Photo identification card, for physically or mentally disabled riders eligible for Project Mainstream service
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

Demographic Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years

PER CAPITA MEDIAN K -12 SCHOOL UNEMPLOYMENT
YEAR POPULATION INCOME AGE_ ENROLLMENT RATE
(1) (3) (@ (6) @
1998 1,067,002 $29,425 329 (5) 166,618 2.5%
1999 1,079,204 $30,214 329 168,495 2.5%
2000 1,068,978 (2 $31,908 32.5 170,708 2.4%
2001 1,071,524 $32,169 - 175,121 2.8%
2002 1,086,814 (2) $33,294 = 175,391 4.4%
2003 1,088,944 (2) $33,576 * 177,666 4.9%
2004 1,088,971 (3) $34,664 - 185,678 5.4%
2005 1,112,880 (3) $36,135 - 186,756 5.3%
2006 1,095,662 $37,492 * 188,737 4.9%
2007 1,153,932 ‘ 34.5 (8) 189,072 4.7%

Note: All information presented is for Franklin County

* Information not available

Sources:
(1) Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission estimate for the year ended
(2) U. S. Department of Commerce - Bureau of the Census
(3) U. S. Department of Commerce - Bureau of Economic Analysis

(4) "Survey of Buying Power”, special issue published annually by "Sales and Marketing Management”
magazine

(5) "Sourcebook of County Demographics”, 10th & 11th ed., published by CACI Marketing Systems,
Arlington, VA

(6) Ohio Department of Education - Division of Information Management Services

(7) Ohio Department of Job and Family Services

(8) U.S. Census Bureau
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
COLUMBUS CHAMBER OF COMMERCE - FACT SHEET
GREATER COLUMBUS - 40 LARGEST EMPLOYERS, 2006

Local full-time

Companylorganization Sector employment

1  The State of Ohio* Government 26,613
2  The Ohio State University” Government Education 19,919
3 United States Government/United States Postal Service' Government 10,477
* Defense Finance & Accounting Service Center Government 2,400
' Defense Supply Center Government 2,269
4  JP Morgan Chase & Co Financial Activities 14,276
5  Nationwide” Financial Activities 11,834
6  OhioHealth* Health Care 9,413
7  City of Columbus* Government 8,106
8 Columbus Public Schools*® Government Education 7,432
9 Limited Brands® Corp. Mgt/Retail Trade 7,200
10 Honda of America Manufacturing Inc. Manufacturing 6,900
11 Wal-Mart Stores Retail Trade 6,449
12  Franklin County” Government 6,164
13  Mount Carmel Health” Health Care 4,660
14 American Electric Power* Utilities 4128
15 Huntington Bancshares Inc.* Financial Activities 4,000
16  Kroger Co. Retail Trade 3,626
17  Children's Hospital Inc.” Health Care 3,307
18 AT&T Ohio Utilities 3,000
19 Battelle® Professional Services 2,478
20 Medco Health Solutions Inc. Health Care/Wholesale Trade 2,470
21 South-western City Schools Government Education 2,454
22 Cardinal Health Inc.* Health Care/Wholesale Trade 2,000
23 Dispatch Printing Co.* Information 2,000
24 Ross Products, Div. of Abbott Labs* Manufacturing 1,958
25 United Parcel Service Transportation 1,898
26  State Farm Financial Activities 1,893
27 Retail Ventures Inc. Corp. Mgt/Retail Trade 1,892
28 Hilliard City Schools® Government Education 1,852
29 Alliance Data Systems Information 1,800
30 ARC Industries Inc.* Manufacturing 1,800
31 Teleperformance Professional and Business Services 1,797
32 Biglotsinc.® Corp. Mgt/Retail Trade 1,778
33 McDonalds Corp.* Corp. Mgt/Retail Trade 1,755
34 Emerson Network Power/Liebert Corp. Manufacturing 1,743
35 National City Corp. Financial Activities 1,680
36 Dublin City Schools* Government Education 1,600
37 TS Tech North America Manufacturing 1,568
38 Westerville City Schools*® Government Education 1,532
39 Owens Corning Manufacturing 1,531
40 Netlets Transportation/Financial Activities 1,500

Notes: 1. Total includes subset branches/divisions shown below.

2. Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. *Headquartered locally.
Source: Business First of Columbus , except where noted.
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CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY
Miscellaneous Statistics

For the Year ended December 31, 2007

Date of creation of Authority by local county
and municipal governments ............cccceivviiiiiiiiiiiicii s February 17, 1971

Date of acquisition of assets of Columbus

Transt Company (C.T.C.) v s mmiimsivosveiionssizmses June 29, 1973
Date of commencement of Authority operations ..............cccocveeeen. January 1, 1974
Form of gQOVErNMMENt ... ..o Board of Trustees, with

fulltime President/CEQO
NUMDBET Of TTUSTEES ..ot r e e eanes 13
County in which Authority operates ............ccoooiiiciiice Franklin County and small portions

of adjacent Delaware, Fairfield
and Licking Counties, Ohio

TYPE GF TaX SUPPOTE .covivinisusn wniinteisisiismn st s Service Area Sales Tax - 1/4%
(permanent)

Size of AULNOTIEY ..o 562 square miles

| P T 936.8

NERODET OF FORMES oo s S e s S s AR S 53

Number of bus stop locations ............coooiiiiiiiiiiiii e 4,255

Number of bus stop passenger shelters ............ccccccceeeeeiiiiineneennn. 376

Number of Park-and-Ride facilities ... 26

Parking capacity, all Park-and-Ride facilities ................................. 2,166 automobiles

Nurnbeér oF achve feét BUses ... i 234

Average bus VehiCle g€ ...........ocoooiiiiiiiiiieececc e 7.47 years

Average fixed-route system speed ... 14.18 miles per hour

Average fixed-route system fuel economy ........ccccccooviiiiieniiiiiinns 4.39 miles per gallon

Number of customer information calls received ..................ccccoeee 1,011,319
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Mary Taylor, cpa

Auditor of State

CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY

FRANKLIN COUNTY

CLERK’S CERTIFICATION
This is a true and correct copy of the report which is required to be filed in the Office of the
Auditor of State pursuant to Section 117.26, Revised Code, and which is filed in Columbus, Ohio.

desarn Pabbitt

CLERK OF THE BUREAU

CERTIFIED
AUGUST 12, 2008

88 E. Broad St. / Fourth Floor / Columbus, OH 43215-3506
Telephone: (614) 466-4514 (800) 282-0370 Fax: (614) 466-4490
www.auditor.state.oh.us
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